
 
CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting – Agenda 
 

December 19, 2022 at 6:00 PM | Pooler City Hall | 100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, GA 
31322

1 of 2

 
    
I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM 
    
II. CALL TO ORDER 
    
III. INVOCATION 
    
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
    
V. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
    
VI. CONSENT AGENDA 
  A. City Council Meeting Minutes of December 5, 2022 
  B. Special Event Permit Application for OTG Certified Car Club on July 8, 

2023 
  C. Temporary / Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application 

for Sam Patel on December 31, 2022 
  D. Department Reports 
  1. Public Works 
  2. Finance 
  3. Fire 
  4. Police 
  5. Recreation 
  6. Planning & Zoning 
    
VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS 
  A. Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget 

(Second Reading) 
  B. Resolution R2022-12.B - 2023 City Holidays 
  C. Resolution R2022-12.C - 2023 City Events 
  D. Resolution R2022-12.D - Authorization to Proceed with Acquisitions 

and Condemnations for the Quacco Road Widening Project 



2 of 2

    
VIII. OLD BUSINESS 
  A. Site Plan for 125 Distribution Drive 
  B. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2 
  C. Zoning Buffer Requirement Variance for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road 
    
IX. NEW BUSINESS 
  A. Zoning Map Amendment for a 0.74-Acre Lot on the Corner of South 

Rogers and Tietgen Streets from C-1 to Main Street Overlay District 
(Public Hearing, Action) 

  B. Zoning Map Amendment for SDP Acquisitions (Oglethorpe Speedway 
and Surrounding Properties AKA Country Homes)  from RA-2 to I-1 
(Public Hearing, Action) 

  C. Conditional Use Request for Goodwill Industries to Operate an 
Apparel Manufacturing Business at 111 Coleman Boulevard, Suite 
300 (Public Hearing, Action) 

  D. Height Variance Request for Big Shot Golf Driving Range in Mosaic 
Retail Center at Pooler Parkway (Public Hearing, Action) 

  E. Front Yard Building Setback Variance for a Proposed American Pet 
Resort Located in the Clear Lake Reserve Development (Public 
Hearing, Action) 

  F. Site Plan for Arden Senior Living at Pine Barren Road 
  G. Site Plan for the Davis Group Development (Pooler One) at Pine 

Barren Road 
  H. Sales & Use Tax Refund Engagement Agreement with Tax Specialists 

of Georgia-Southeast, LLC 
  I. Water Line Cost Sharing Agreement Between the City of Pooler and 

Cleark Lake (GA) Owner I, LLC 
  J. Fire Aerial Ladder Sale Agreement with Liberty County 
    
X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
    
XI. ADJOURNMENT 



 
CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting – Minutes 
 

December 5, 2022 at 6:00 PM | Pooler City Hall | 100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322

1 of 7

 
    
I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM  
  Present: Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Tom Hutcherson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Shannon Black, Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins, Councilmember 
Stevie Wall, Councilmember 
John Wilcher, Councilmember 
Karen Williams, Councilmember  
Robert Byrd, City Manager   
Craig Call, City Attorney    
Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    

    
Absent: Steve Scheer, City Attorney   

    
II. CALL TO ORDER  
  Mayor Rebecca Benton called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

    
III. INVOCATION  
  Dr. Shirlenia Daniel gave the invocation. 

 

    
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
  Dr. Shirlenia Daniel led the pledge. 

 

    
V. CONSENT AGENDA  
  City Manager Robert Byrd presented the consent agenda for consideration. 

 

  A. City Council Meeting Minutes of November 21, 2022  
    

  

  B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of November 21, 2022  
    

  

  C. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for CJS Legend Food, Inc. at 
1024 US Highway 80 West, Suite 118  

     
 

 



2 of 7

Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the consent agenda.  
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
VI. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS  
  

  

  A. Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget 
(First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. Mayor 
Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve the first reading of 
Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

  B. Ordinance 02022-11.B - To Amend Chapter 42 - Environment, 
Article VI - Tree Protection to Add Divisions and Establish 
Requirements for Tree Protection on Public Property and Rights-of-
Way (Second Reading)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the ordinance for consideration. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the second reading of 
Ordinance 02022-11.B - To Amend Chapter 42 - Environment, Article VI - 
Tree Protection to Add Divisions and Establish Requirements for Tree 
Protection on Public Property and Rights-of-Way.  
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

  C. Ordinance 02022-11.C - Zoning Text Amendment Adding Furniture 
and Related Product Manufacturing as a Conditional Use to Table 
4.1 Allowed Uses by Zoning District (Second Reading)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the ordinance for consideration. 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve Ordinance 02022-11.C - 
Zoning Text Amendment Adding Furniture and Related Product 

 



3 of 7

Manufacturing as a Conditional Use to Table 4.1 Allowed Uses by Zoning 
District. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
VII. OLD BUSINESS  
  

  

  A. Site Plan for 125 Distribution Drive  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Patrick 

Warner of Coleman Company was present on behalf of the petitioner. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to postpone the Site Plan for 125 
Distribution Drive until a date by which the submitted documents can be 
confirmed with city staff. Patrick Warner verbally agreed to the 
postponement. 
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

    
VIII. NEW BUSINESS  
  

  

  A. Sign Variance for JC Lewis Ford Located at 501 Memorial 
Boulevard (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the variance for consideration. Bobby 
Wilcox and Walter Lewis were present to answer questions. Mayor Rebecca 
Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember Karen Williams, after review of the criteria, moved to 
approve the Sign Variance for JC Lewis Ford Located at 501 Memorial 
Boulevard. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (5-1) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS: Higgins 

 

  B. Front Yard Building Setback Variance for 220 South Skinner 
Avenue (Public Hearing, Action)  

 



4 of 7

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the variance for consideration. Mayor 
Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve the Front Yard Building 
Setback Variance for 220 South Skinner Avenue. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Wall 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

  C. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2 
(Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. 
David Hornsby and Will Furman were present on behalf of the petitioner to 
answer questions. Mayor Rebecca Benton opened the public hearing. An 
unnamed resident inquired about future use of the property if changed to a 
C-2. Mayor Rebecca Benton closed the public hearing. Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins moved to postpone the Zoning Map Amendment for 100 
Commerce Court from C-P to C-2 until the December 19, 2022 meeting. 
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

  D. Conditional Use Request for a Childcare Center Located at 112 
North Rogers Avenue (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the request for consideration. The 
petitioner was not present. Mayor Rebecca Benton opened the public 
hearing. Resident Brandy Bartlett expressed her safety concerns regarding 
the building's proximity to the roadway, vehicular speeding in the area, and 
parking space inadequacy. Resident Scott Clark expressed his concerns 
regarding vehicular and truck traffic in the area. Mayor Rebecca Benton 
closed the public hearing, and Councilmember John Wilcher moved to deny 
the Conditional Use Request for a Childcare Center Located at 112 North 
Rogers Avenue. 
 
Motion to Deny; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Wall 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

  E. Site Plan for La Parrilla Restaurant at 140 Tanger Outlets Boulevard  
 



5 of 7

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Doug 
Faircloth was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve the Site Plan for La Parrilla 
Restaurant at 140 Tanger Outlets Boulevard subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting 

2. Submission of a final set of plans to include a 1.5-inch domestic water 
meter with a 1.5-inch backflow prevention device 

3. Payment of $19,500.00 into the Tree Fund 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams  
NAYS:  

  F. Site Plan for Westside Commerce Center in Westside Business Park  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. C.J. 

Chance of Hussey Gay Bell was present on behalf of the petitioner to 
answer questions. Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Site 
Plan for Westside Commerce Center in Westside Business Park subject to 
the following conditions: 

1. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting 

2. Traffic signal installed and operational prior to issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy  

3. Storefront on Highway 80 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

  G. Acceptance of a Sidewalk and Landscape Performance Bond / Final 
Plat for Benton Grove Towns  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the bonds and plat for consideration. 
Tim Franks was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton recused herself and Mayor Pro Tem Tom Hutcherson 
led the item discussion in her stead. Councilmember John Wilcher moved to 
accept the Sidewalk Performance Bond in the amount of $183,885.00 and 
the Landscape Performance Bond in the amount of $283,704.00, and to 

 



6 of 7

approve the final plat for Benton Grove Towns subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. City Attorney approval 
2. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 

meeting  
3. Recording of the plat 

 

Motion to Accept and Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

  H. Site Plan for 421 Morgan Lakes Industrial Boulevard  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Chad 

Zittroeur was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Site Plan for 421 
Morgan Lakes Industrial Boulevard subject to the following conditions: 

1. Payment of $25,025.00 into the Tree Fund 
2. Recombination plat approval prior to issuance of a Certificate of 

Occupancy 
3. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 

meeting 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

 

    
IX. ADJOURNMENT  
  Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 
Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:19 p.m. 
 
 



7 of 7

The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this _____ 
day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 















 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Matt Saxon 

Assistant City Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNCIL REPORT 

Report for the month of November   

Mrs. Williams, 

It gives me great pleasure to present to you, the work that our Wastewater Treatment Plant, 

Sewer, and Water Departments have accomplished since the last council meeting: 

Water: 

         

Inspected 60 Grease trap inspections. 

39 C.O inspections conducted. 

Repaired 11 residential water service laterals. 

Repaired 3 commercial water service laterals.  

       Witnessed the testing and certification of 36 backflow preventers. 

Performed 843 line locates requested by the (UPC) Utility Protection Center. 

 

Sewer & WWTP:  

EOM report attached. 

  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Matt Saxon   

Assistant City Manager 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Matthew Saxon 

Assistant City Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNCIL REPORT 

Report for the month of November 2022 

Street: 

• Continued routine maintenance throughout the city repairing potholes, sidewalks, and shoulder work.  

 

Signs: 

• Replaced 12 signs throughout the city. 

 

Storm Water:  

• Completed routine residential workorders. 

• Completed 58,210 of routine roadside ditch and outfall maintenance.  

Canal Maintenance:  

• Continued routine maintenance throughout the city. 

• Cut and cleaned Pipemakers Canal to I-95. 

• Removed beaver dams behind Hardee’s on Gov. Treutlen.  

 

Public Works Admin: 

• Reviewed 17 sets of site plans.  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Matthew E. Saxon  

Assistant City Manager 



 

 
  NOVEMBER 

2022 
Monthly Report 

480 Edsel Drive, Ste 100 
Richmond Hill, GA 31324 
912.445.0050 
www.eomworx.com 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
         
 
 
 
Content                 Section 
 
Executive Summary…………………………………………………………………………………… 1.0 
 
Wastewater Treatment ……………………………………………………………….………... 2.0  
 
Collections & Distribution….…………………….…………………………………….……….. 3.0 
 
Engineering …..…………….……………………………………………………………….………….....  4.0 
 
Administration………………………..……………………………………………………………………. 5.0 
 
Appendix …………………………………………………………………………………………………………6.0 
 
 
   



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

SECTION 1.0  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
EOM is pleased to provide this revised monthly report to the City 
of Pooler for review.  Departmental reports and requested 
supplemental data can be found enclosed.  
 
MONTH HIGHLIGHT 
- SEWER – Responded to (2) grinder pump calls 
- SEWER – Responded to (14) sewer blockage/leak calls 
- SEWER – Completed (3) Sewer Repairs 

o Salter Street 
o Morgan St 
o Brighton Woods Dr 

- WASTEWATER LIFT STATIONS 
o PO-LS-15.06: Morgan Pines Lift Station – Cleaned wet well 
o PO-LS-40.06: Daniels Tract Lift Station – Cleaned wet well 
o PO-LS-30.07: Park Lane Duplexes Lift Station – Replaced site lighting 
o PO-LS-40.07: Daniels Tract Lift Station – Replaced site lighting 
o PO-LS-38: Joel Street Lift Station – Completed annual electrical inspection 
o Replaced alarm bulbs: 

PO-LS-23: Morgan’s Corner Lift Station  
PO-LS-24: Bridgewater Lift Station  
PO-LS-26: Raindance Lift Station  
PO-LS-09: Courtney Station Lift Station  
PO-LS-11: Northern Tract Lift Station  
PO-LS-12: Arbors Lift Station  
PO-LS-14: S.H. Morgan Lift Station  
PO-LS-13: Forest Lakes Lift Station  

o EOM continues to transition to full upgraded SCADA monitoring at all 
Lift station’s locations 
- WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 
o PO-WW-EF-10: Plant Water Pump 1 – Replaced pump packing 
o PO-WW-UT-08: STORAGE POND Control Panel_VFD – Reinstalled programming 
o PO-WW-EF-80: Effluent Pump Station Control Panel – Reinstalled programming 
o PO-WW-EF-10: Plant Water Pump 1 – Replaced pump packing 
o PO-WW-UT-09: Generator – Replaced 2 batteries 
o PO-WW-PM-23: Service Air Compressor 1 – Replaced pressure switch 
o PO-WW-GR-32: FINE SCREEN_2 – Replaced trunnion and repaired chain 
o PO-WW-AS-02: Blower 1_Aeration Grid – Replaced relay 
o PO-WW-EQ-00: EQUALIZATION BASIN LIFT STATION – Repaired transmitter wiring 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

  
 
 
  

WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT 

Section 2.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

 

SECTION 2.0 
WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
 
Table 1 – WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT PERMIT COMPARISON 
 

  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

  

COLLECTIONS & 
DISTRIBUTION 

Section 3.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

SECTION 3.0 
COLLECTIONS & DISTRIBUTION 
 
Table 1 – SEWER MAINTENANCE WORK ORDER REPORT 

  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

  

ENGINEERING 

Section 4.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

 

SECTION 4.0 
ENGINEERING 
SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 

I. Approved Projects 
▪ Durham Park Office 
▪ 1545 Dean Forest Expansion 
▪ Parlor Mini Storage 
▪ La Parilla 
▪ Westside Commerce Center 
▪ 115,500 SF Warehouse (421 Morgan Lakes) 

 
II. Projects Under Review 

▪ Walk On’s & Veterinary Center (Submittal #3) 
▪ Parlor Water Main Extension (Submittal #2) 
▪ Arden Senior Living Center (Submittal #3) 
▪ Davis Group – Pine Barren Rd (Submittal #2) 
▪ Nordic Trailer Storage Yard (Submittal #2) 
▪ Element Hotel & Commercial Space (Submittal #3) 
▪ Towne Place Pooler (Submittal #5) 
▪ 1707 Old Dean Forest Rd (Submittal #3) 
▪ Hwy 80 Car Wash (Submittal #2) 
▪ Nine Squares (Submittal #3) 
▪ Tanger Outlet Mall – Outparcel 2 (Submittal #1) 

 
III. Projects Waiting On Responses 

▪ Sharon Court – 2nd review completed on 10/24/2022 
▪ Harmony Subdivision – Amenity – 2nd review completed on 

11/30/2022 
▪ Dave & Buster’s at Tanger Outlets – 1st review completed on 

11/29/2022 
▪ My Place Hotel – 2nd review completed on 11/23/2022 
▪ Pooler One – Pine Barren Road Entrance  - 1st review completed on 

11/22/2022 
▪ Quik Trip – 5th review completed on 11/16/2022 
▪ Pooler Parkway & Quacco Rd Widening – 2nd review completed on 

10/11/2022 
▪ Transportation Logistics Terminal – Tract 2A – 1st review completed 

on 11/8/2022 
▪ Lot 3 Dean Forest Business Park – 3rd review completed on 

10/18/2022 
▪ Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension – 2nd review completed on 

9/8/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L1 – 2nd review completed on 9/8/2022 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

▪ Westbrook Area L2 – 2nd Review Completed on 9/8/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L3 – 2nd Review completed on 9/8/2022 
▪ Bragg Tract Phase 1 – 1st review completed on 9/22/2022 
▪ Pittman Subaru – 1st review completed on 9/23/2022 
▪ 1501 Pine Barren – 3rd review completed on 8/30/2021. 
▪ Local 474 – 3rd review completed on 4/29/2021 

 
IV. ADDITIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 

▪ Additional items were added to the design of Lift Station #21 & 22. 
Currently pending final electrical plan.  

▪ Initial 2022 LMIG Bid Documents were submitted to the City in 
Summer 2022. Currently pending review and response from City.   
 

 
  

 
 
  
 
  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

  

ADMINISTRATION 

Section 5.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

SECTION 5.0 
ADMINISTRATION 
 
 
BUDGET 
 

 
  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – November 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 

Section 6.0 



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:

ADDRESS:

FACILITY:

LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of

100 Southwest Hwy 80

Pooler, GA 31322

Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road

Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)

DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD

YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

22 10 01 22 10 31

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge

External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood

Wastewater Manager WW1-015056
912 445-1894 22 11 08

1

 

    QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION
NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

  VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS      

OXYGEN, DISSOLVED
(DO)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

7.5 **** ****
 mg/L

0 01/01 GR GRAB

00300  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

6.0
MINIMUM

**** ****
 mg/L

  01/01 GR GRAB

BOD, 5-DAY
(20 DEG. C)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

43.8 46.1
 lb/d

**** 2.0 2.2
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00310  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

82.6
MO AVG

102.6
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 3.0
MO AVG

4.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

BOD, 5-DAY
(20 DEG. C)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

2537 3374
 lb/d

**** 222 237
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00310  1  0  0
RAW SEWAGE INFLUENT

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

PH
 

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

6.7 **** 7.7
 SU

0 01/01 GR GRAB

00400  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

6.0
MINIMUM

**** 8.5
MAXIMUM  SU

  01/01 GR GRAB

SOLIDS, TOTAL
SUSPENDED

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

22.7 26.0
 lb/d

**** 1.0 1.1
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00530  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

138.0
MO AVG

172.0
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 5.0
MO AVG

7.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

SOLIDS, TOTAL
SUSPENDED

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

2061 2520
 lb/d

**** 182 191
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00530  1  0  0
RAW SEWAGE INFLUENT

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

NITROGEN, ORGANIC
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 1.200 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

00605  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:

ADDRESS:

FACILITY:

LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of

100 Southwest Hwy 80

Pooler, GA 31322

Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road

Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)

DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD

YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

22 10 01 22 10 31

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge

External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood

Wastewater Manager WW1-015056
912 445-1894 22 11 08

2

 

    QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION
NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

  VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS      

NITROGEN, AMMONIA
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

11.6 13.6
 lb/d

**** 0.5 0.7
 mg/L

3 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00610  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

11.0
MO AVG

13.8
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 0.4
MO AVG

0.6
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

NITROGEN, KJELDAHL
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 1.620 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

00625  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

NITRITE PLUS NITRATE
TOTAL 1 DET. (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 7.5 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

00630  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

PHOSPHORUS, TOTAL
(AS P)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

3.5 4.7
****

**** 0.4 0.5
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00665  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

27.5
MO AVG

34.4
WKLY AVG ****

**** 1.0
MO AVG

1.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

PHOSPHATE, ORTHO (AS
P)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 0.474 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

04175  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

FLOW, IN CONDUIT OR
THRU TREATMENT PLANT

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

2.8 2.92
 MGD

**** **** ****
 ****

0 99/99 CN CONTIN

50050  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

3.3
MO AVG

4.2
WKLY AVG  MGD

**** **** ****
****

  99/99 CN CONTIN

COLIFORM, FECAL
GENERAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 1.9 4.9
 #/100mL

0 02/DA GR GRAB

74055  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 23
MO GEO

23
WKLY GEO  #/100mL

  02/DA GR GRAB



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:

ADDRESS:

FACILITY:

LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of

100 Southwest Hwy 80

Pooler, GA 31322

Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road

Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)

DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD

YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

22 10 01 22 10 31

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge

External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood

Wastewater Manager WW1-015056
912 445-1894 22 11 08

3

 

    QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION
NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

  VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS      

CYANIDE, TOTAL
(AS CN)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 4.4900 ****
 ug/L

0 01/30 GR GRAB

00720  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** ****
MO AVG

****
 ug/L

  01/30 GR GRAB

MERCURY, TOTAL
(AS HG)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 0.64 ****
 ng/L

0 01/30 GR GRAB

71900  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** ****
MO AVG

****
 ng/L

  01/30 GR GRAB

SOLIDS, SUSPENDED
PERCENT REMOVAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
 dry ton

99.4 **** ****
 %

0 01/30 CA CALCTD

81011  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 dry ton

>85
MINIMUM

**** ****
 %

  01/30 CA CALCTD

BOD, 5-DAY PERCENT
REMOVAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

99.1 **** ****
 %

0 01/30 CA CALCTD

81010  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

>85
MINIMUM

**** ****
 %

  01/30 CA CALCTD

SOLIDS, SLUDGE, TOT,
DRY WEIGHT

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

49 ****
 dry ton

**** **** ****
****

0 01/30 CA CALCTD

78477  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 dry ton

**** **** ****
****

  01/30 CA CALCTD

  SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

  PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

  SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

  PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

   
 

     
 

     



October 2022 Permit Data

Daily Data

Daily

10/1/2022 - 10/31/2022

Pooler

Pooler RainFall

Precip In/Day

Inches/Day

Pooler

Effluent

Flow Mgd

MGD

Pooler

ReUse

Flow Mgd

MGD

Pooler

ReUse

Turbidity NTU

NTU

Pooler

Influent

Bod 5

MG/L

Pooler

Influent

Solids TSS

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Bod 5

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Solids TSS

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Fecal Coliform

#/100ML

10/1/2022 - Saturday 0.00 2.630

10/2/2022 - Sunday 0.00 2.976

10/3/2022 - Monday 0.00 3.071

10/4/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 3.058 1.00

10/5/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.979 195.00 162.00 2.00 1.00

10/6/2022 - Thursday 0.00 2.868 206.00 204.00 2.00 1.00 1.00

10/7/2022 - Friday 0.00 2.443 228.00 182.00 2.00 1.00

10/8/2022 - Saturday 0.00 2.745

10/9/2022 - Sunday 0.00 2.926

10/10/2022 - Monday 0.00 3.121

10/11/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 3.160 2.50

10/12/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.486 206.00 175.00 2.00 1.00

10/13/2022 - Thursday 1.14 2.782 216.00 198.00 2.00 1.00 9.50

10/14/2022 - Friday 0.00 3.018 204.00 171.00 2.00 1.35

10/15/2022 - Saturday 0.00 2.924

10/16/2022 - Sunday 0.00 3.014

10/17/2022 - Monday 0.00 3.251

10/18/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 2.869 4.00

10/19/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.686 217.00 168.00 2.00 1.00

10/20/2022 - Thursday 0.00 2.659 234.00 171.00 2.00 1.00 1.00

10/21/2022 - Friday 0.00 2.537 248.00 184.00 2.00 1.00

10/22/2022 - Saturday 0.00 2.633

10/23/2022 - Sunday 0.00 2.509

10/24/2022 - Monday 0.00 2.867

10/25/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 2.652 0.48 0.06 1.00

10/26/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 1.999 239.00 186.00 2.00 1.00

10/27/2022 - Thursday 0.00 2.723 0.13 0.06 233.00 205.00 2.00 1.00 1.50

10/28/2022 - Friday 0.00 2.358 240.00 183.00 2.00 1.00

10/29/2022 - Saturday 0.00 2.427

10/30/2022 - Sunday 0.00 2.728

10/31/2022 - Monday 0.00 2.904

Sum 1.14 86.003 0.61 0.12 2666.00 2189.00 24.00 12.40 21.50

Avg 0.04 2.774 0.31 0.06 222.00 182.40 2.00 1.00 1.90

Max 1.14 3.251 0.48 0.06 248.00 205.00 2.00 1.40 9.50

Min 0.00 1.999 0.13 0.06 195.00 162.00 2.00 1.00 1.00

GMean 1.90



October 2022 Permit Data

Pooler

Effluent

Nh3 N 

Ammonia

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Phosphorus

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Nitrate + Nitrite

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

TKN

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Org Nitrogen

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Ortho 

Phosphorus

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Cyanide

UG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Mercury

1631E

NG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Diss Oxygen

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

pH

SU

Pooler

Solids 

Removed

Dry TON

7.83 6.88 0.00

8.06 6.95 0.00

7.93 6.80 2.00

8.07 6.76 2.00

0.46 0.20 7.99 6.67 4.00

0.84 0.31 7.69 6.96 2.00

0.45 0.25 7.96 6.82 2.00

7.91 6.83 0.00

8.03 6.95 0.00

7.76 6.99 2.00

8.04 6.89 4.00

0.13 0.53 7.66 7.66 3.00

0.42 0.52 7.46 1.62 1.20 0.47 4.49 0.64 7.86 6.75 2.00

0.52 0.30 7.88 6.84 0.00

8.14 6.80 0.00

8.05 6.81 0.00

7.49 6.83 4.00

7.79 6.87 4.00

0.66 0.27 8.21 6.78 2.00

0.44 0.29 7.92 6.78 4.00

0.42 0.25 8.19 6.99 0.00

8.16 6.81 0.00

7.94 6.93 0.00

7.87 6.94 2.00

8.06 6.88 4.00

0.74 0.42 7.94 6.98 4.00

0.93 0.51 8.07 6.94 2.00

0.34 0.39 8.35 6.78 0.00

8.06 6.78 0.00

8.20 6.71 0.00

8.04 6.70 0.00

6.33 4.24 7.46 1.62 1.20 0.47 4.50 0.64 247.15 213.06 49.00

0.53 0.35 7.46 1.62 1.20 0.47 4.50 0.64 7.97 6.87 2.00

0.93 0.53 7.46 1.62 1.20 0.47 4.50 0.64 8.35 7.66 4.00

0.13 0.20 7.46 1.62 1.20 0.47 4.50 0.64 7.49 6.67 0.00



 

 

INTERIM 

COMPARATIVE 

OPERATING 

STATEMENTS 

 
 

City of Pooler, Georgia 
For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Finance Department 



 

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Interim Comparative Operating Statements (Unaudited) 

Table of Contents 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 

 

PAGE

COMPARATIVE OPERATING STATEMENTS

General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.................................................. 1

Tree Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances........................................................ 2

Forfeiture Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.............................................. 3

ARP Local Fiscal Recovery Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.................. 4

Accommodation Excise Tax Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances................ 5

Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,

and Changes in Fund Balances........................................................................................................................................ 6

Water and Sewer Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position............................................ 7



 

 

 



 

     

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

(UNAUDITED)



 

     



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

General Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

1 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Taxes...................................................................... 20,147,168.85$  17,435,315.62$ 

Licenses and permits............................................. 1,626,848.23      1,035,758.75     

Intergovernmental................................................. 680,037.44         428,354.70        

Charges for services............................................... 2,939,785.03      2,380,394.13     

Fines and forfeitures.............................................. 693,075.08         823,415.00        

Investment earnings.............................................. 122,870.19         9,589.72            

Contributions and donations.................................. 207,460.42         1,667,029.66     

Miscellaneous........................................................ 85,276.40           84,361.86          

Total revenues............................................................ 26,502,521.64    23,864,219.44    2,638,302.20      11.06%

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government.......................................... 3,394,953.35      3,159,383.67     

Judicial................................................................ 364,560.20         377,187.89        

Public safety....................................................... 15,092,572.27    12,350,613.25   

Public works........................................................ 6,828,540.47      5,163,425.11     

Health and welfare............................................. 143,329.88         120,288.65        

Culture and recreation....................................... 1,727,191.98      1,514,311.59     

Housing and development................................. 787,705.98         773,092.79        

Debt service

Principal.............................................................. 400,792.38         282,699.59        

Interest............................................................... 59,191.82           29,535.06          

Total expenditures..................................................... 28,798,838.33    23,770,537.60    5,028,300.73      21.15%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures...................................... (2,296,316.69)     93,681.84          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in............................................................ 1,102,153.23      874,202.82        

Transfers out.......................................................... ‐                      (437,851.85)       

Capital lease........................................................... 2,762,588.82      ‐                     

Sale of general capital assets................................ 143,365.66         139,097.50        

Insurance recoveries.............................................. 78,936.75           19,849.20          

Total other financing sources (uses) 4,087,044.46      595,297.67         3,491,746.79      586.55%

Net changes in fund balances.................................... 1,790,727.77      688,979.51        

Fund balances at beginning of year........................... 27,820,097.95    23,942,856.39   

Fund balances at end of year..................................... 29,610,825.72$  24,631,835.90$ 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Tree Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

2 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Contributions.......................................................... 796,700.00$       1,730,200.00$   

Investment earnings.............................................. 1,883.28             329.01               

Total revenues........................................................ 798,583.28         1,730,529.01      (931,945.73)        ‐53.85%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Parks................................................................... 225,141.10         141,118.50        

Total expenditures................................................. 225,141.10         141,118.50         84,022.60           59.54%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 573,442.18         1,589,410.51     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in............................................................ ‐                      437,851.85         (437,851.85)       

Total other financing sources (uses) ‐                      437,851.85        

Net change in fund balance....................................... 573,442.18         2,027,262.36     

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 2,026,513.14      ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 2,599,955.32$    2,027,262.36$   



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Forfeiture Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

3 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Fines and forfeitures.............................................. 19,602.82$         65,758.10$        

Investment earnings.............................................. 155.84                57.12                 

Total revenues........................................................ 19,758.66           65,815.22           (46,056.56)          ‐69.98%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety....................................................... 12,685.60           31,230.90          

Total expenditures................................................. 12,685.60           31,230.90           (18,545.30)          ‐59.38%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 7,073.06             34,584.32          

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 109,758.62         72,146.73          

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 116,831.68$       106,731.05$      



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

American Rescue Plan Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

4 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Intergovernmental grants...................................... ‐$                    ‐$                   

Investment earnings.............................................. 5,658.66             929.54               

Total revenues........................................................ 5,658.66             929.54                4,729.12             508.76%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Health and welfare............................................. ‐                      ‐                     

Total expenditures................................................. ‐                      ‐                      ‐                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 5,658.66             929.54               

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 1,132.84             ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 6,791.50$           929.54$             



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Accommodation Excise Tax Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

5 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Taxes...................................................................... 2,204,306.49$    1,748,405.56$   

Total revenues........................................................ 2,204,306.49      1,748,405.56      455,900.93         26.08%

EXPENDITURES

Intergovernmental:

Assistance.......................................................... 1,102,153.26      874,202.80        

Total expenditures................................................. 1,102,153.26      874,202.80         227,950.46         26.08%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 1,102,153.23      874,202.76        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out.......................................................... (1,102,153.23)     (874,202.76)        (227,950.47)        26.08%

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,102,153.23)     (874,202.76)       

Net change in fund balance....................................... ‐                      ‐                     

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ ‐                      ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... ‐$                    ‐$                   



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

6 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Intergovernmental........................................ 4,830,079.05$    4,532,925.29$   

Investment earnings..................................... 20,473.49           1,732.90            

Total revenues.............................................. 4,850,552.54      4,534,658.19      315,894.35         6.97%

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay

Public safety.............................................. 963,029.86         453,410.20        

Public works.............................................. 904,679.51         2,359,177.72     

Recreation................................................. 138,974.89         30,227.50          

Debt service

Principal.................................................... 1,190,000.00      1,160,000.00     

Interest...................................................... 309,278.66         339,526.78        

Total expenditures........................................ 3,505,962.92      4,342,342.20      (836,379.28)        ‐19.26%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures........................ 1,344,589.62      192,315.99        

Fund balance, beginning of year...................... 4,420,409.33      2,949,988.45     

Fund balance, end of year................................ 5,764,998.95$    3,142,304.44$   



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Water and Sewer Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Eleven Months Ended November 30, 2022 and 2021 

7 
 

2022 2021

OPERATING REVENUES

Water fees............................................................. 3,982,406.64$    3,694,825.45$   

Sewer fees.............................................................. 5,044,006.21      4,715,559.90     

Miscellaneous fees................................................ 125,076.70         103,668.04        

Total operating revenues........................................... 9,151,489.55      8,514,053.39      637,436.16         7.49%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Sewer and Wastewater Treatment Plant

Purchased and contracted services.................... 1,858,837.43      1,210,720.34     

Materials and supplies....................................... 1,355,456.10      1,359,070.86     

Total sewer and wastewater treatment plant....... 3,214,293.53      2,569,791.20      644,502.33         25.08%

Water

Personnel services and employee benefits....... 646,024.80         844,134.61        

Purchased and contracted services.................... 337,605.32         382,208.73        

Materials and supplies....................................... 1,765,115.58      1,633,503.90     

Total water............................................................. 2,748,745.70      2,859,847.24      (111,101.54)        ‐3.88%

Total operating expenses........................................... 5,963,039.23      5,429,638.44      533,400.79         9.82%

Operating income (loss)............................................ 3,188,450.32      3,084,414.95      104,035.37         3.37%

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest income...................................................... 86,248.63           13,900.48          

Insurance recoveries.............................................. ‐                      624,733.05        

Interest expense..................................................... (296,384.69)        (669,398.18)       

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses).................. (210,136.06)        (30,764.65)          (179,371.41)        583.04%

Income (loss) before capital contributions................ 2,978,314.26      3,053,650.30      (75,336.04)          ‐2.47%

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Tap fees.................................................................. 520,651.48         667,520.84        

Capital cost recovery charges................................ 7,166,438.98      2,252,332.92     

Total capital contributions......................................... 7,687,090.46      2,919,853.76      4,767,236.70      163.27%

Change in net position............................................... 10,665,404.72    5,973,504.06      4,691,900.66      78.55%

Net position, beginning of year................................. 54,822,228.61    50,093,307.21   

Net position, end of year........................................... 65,487,633.33$  56,066,811.27$ 
 



City of Pooler
Fire-Rescue Services

Fire-Rescue Report Nov. 1st – 30th, 2022

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS 
Oct 2022

% Of TOTAL 
Oct 2022

YEAR to DATE 
2022

YEAR to DATE 
2021

Fires 8 2.08% 147 190
 Structure Fires 3 - 56 82

Emergency Medical Service 204 52.99% 2895 2612
Motor Vehicle Collisions 49 12.73% 517 603
Technical Rescues 7 1.81% 96 93
Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 8 2.08% 89 86
Service Call 47 12.21% 558 482
Good Intent Call 32 8.31% 372 493
False Alarm & False Call 30 7.79% 398 373
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster 0 0 13 9
Special Incident/Citizen Complaint 0 0 1 1

TOTAL 385 100% 5086 4942

October Call Volume Decreased from 418 in 2021 to 385 in 2022, (8.57% decrease)

For the year, call volume has increased by 144 calls or 3.91% over 2021 totals.

0

50

100

150

200

250

Incident Total

EMS
Fires
MVC
Tech Rescue
Haz Con
Service Calls
Good Intent
False Alarm
Severe Weather
Special Incident



  Significant Events 

1. 11/5/22 – Fire Station 5 – 204 Nordic Way – Saturday morning Station 5 went into service 
operating our 2009 Aerial Tower truck. Their new ladder truck has arrived and crews will go 
through extensive training and is expected in service after the first of the year. They also 
assigned as part of our Special Operations Team. Station 5 responded to 35 calls during the 
month of November.

2. 11/9/22 – Structure Fire – W. Highway 80, Garden City – Apartment fire – Mutual Aid 
response, fire involved entire 2-story 16-unit apartment building. Truck 61, Tower 64, Chief 
60, & Chief 62 responded. Units on scene for over 2 hours.

Tower 64 & Truck 61 operating at Apartment Fire

3. 11/13/22 - Structure Fire – Posthouse Trail –Structure Fire – On arrival, crews found golf 
cart on fire inside the garage. Crews quickly contained the fire to the golf cart with minor 
damage to the building.  Fire was a caused due to Lithium-Ion battery runaway. Crew 
removed batteries, submerged them in water/foam solution and stored them away from 
combustibles. Crews returned to the scene 72 hours later to finish extinguishment. 4 Engines, 
Tower 64, Rescue 61, Chief 60 & Battalion 60 responded. Units were on scene for over an 
hour. 21 personnel responded. 

4. 11/15/22 – Vehicle Extrication – E. Highway 80 & Pooler Pkwy.  – 32 car crash, driver 
entrapped– Engine 62, Rescue 61, & Battalion 60 responded. 4-minute extrication time, 
Units on scene for 45 minutes. 7 personnel responded.



5. 11/18/22 – Vehicle Extrication – E. Highway 80 & Bourne Ave. – 2 car crash, tractor 
trailer on top of car, driver entrapped – Engine 61, Rescue 61, Engine 63, Tower 65, Chief 
61, Chief 62, EMS Captain 60 & Battalion 60 responded. 29-minute extrication time, Units 
on scene for over 3 hours minutes. 17 personnel responded.

 

                            



 

 
 Council Report  

Monday December 19, 2022 

November 2022   

 
• A total of 68 Part 1 crimes reported in the month of November. Bringing 

the total to 724 Part 1 crimes for year.   

• From prior year 2021, there is no change in percentage. 

• A total of 26 shopliftings reported in the month of November. Bringing the 

total to 252 shopliftings for the year. 

• From prior year 2021, this is a decrease of 20%. 

• Total Calls for service in November were 2,219. Bringing the total number 

of calls for service for the year to 26,075. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 6%. 

• A total of 1,591 citations were issued in the month of November. Bringing 

the total for the year to 16,690. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 13% 

• A total of 129 arrest were made in the month of November. Bringing the 

total number arrest for the year to 1,459. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 1%. 

• A total of 19 DUI arrest were made in the month of November. Bringing the 

total number of DUI arrest for the year to 294. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 10%. 

 

Activity Time Period 
11/01-11/30/2022 

Year to Date 
2022 

Year to Date 
2021 

Percentage 
Change from 

21 - 22 

     

Part 1 crimes 68 724 724 0% 

Shopliftings 26 252 317 -20% 

Calls for service 2,219 26,075 24,620   6% 

Citation 1,591 16,690 14,718 13% 

Arrests 129 1,459 1,439 1% 

DUI arrests 19 294 226                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           10% 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7 Pooler Gaelic football club continued practicing at complex.

1

2

 

3

4

5

Savannah.

1

2

decorating the park and installing the Christmas lights on Hwy 80.

3

Pooler Parks & Recreation

flag and tackle football seasons ended.

Monthly Report: November 2022

Recreation Department

Youth fall soccer, volleyball, and cheerleading, as well as both

Fall gymnastics and dance classes continued.  

Fall baseball teams continued practicing at Pooler Park.

6u basketball games began.

Senior bowling continued to meet each Monday.  

NHHS hosted Benedictine.

Senior Center

Pooler Stadium held 4 high school football games in November.

The community center was rented each weekend in November.

The monthly TVIP class was held at the community center.

Parks performed routine maintenance at all 5 parks, the community and senior

centers, and the cemetery.

Veterans and families from the center participated in the Veteran's Day Parade in

There was a group that attended Christmas in the South at the Trade and Convention

Parks

Center.

Parks assisted with erecting the Christmas tree in Memorial Park, as well as 

Regular basketball registration remained opened for ages 7-13.

SCPS hosted Liberty County High.

SCPS also hosted 2 GHSA State Playoff games vs Hephzibah and Sandy Creek.

Seniors had the opportunity to participate in day trips to Metter and Vidalia.

Celebrated with their annual Thanksgiving meal and monthly birthday party.

All regularly scheduled classes continued in November.



1  

City of Pooler  
Planning & Zoning Minutes 

November 28, 2022 
 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Commissioner Matt Saxon called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m.  
Commissioner Simmons led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
Attendee Name Title Status 
Kimberly Dyer Zoning Admin./Secretary  Present 
Matt Saxon Chairman Present 
Chelsea Henneman Commissioner Present 
Shirlenia Daniel Commissioner Present 
Falgun Patel Commissioner Present 
Wade Simmons Commissioner Present 
Mark Williams Commissioner Present 
Ashley Brown Commissioner Present 
John Winn Commissioner Absent 
Pete Chaison Alternate Present 
Brian Crooks City Planner Present 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the November 14, 2022, Pooler Planning and Zoning Commission were 
reviewed, and no corrections or amendments were noted. 
 
Result: Approved 
1-Motion: Commissioner Daniel 

   2-Second: Commissioner Simmons 
Passed without opposition 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Simmons to add item #4 under New Business. 
Motion was seconded by Commissioner Daniel and passed without opposition.  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
1. Sign Variance for JC Lewis Ford located at 501 Memorial Drive 
 

Bobby Wilcon, with Wilcox Signs, on behalf of the owner, presented the variance to the Board 
for their review and recommendation. The request is for four (4) principal free sanding signs and 
seven (7) wall signs. According to Chapter 66, Sign Regulations, Table 60-B, the maximum 
number of principal freestanding signs is one per street frontage having driveway access, 
maximum number of principal building signs is one per tenant frontage per façade. Mr. Wilcox 
stated that the dealership and the oil change facilities are two different entities.  



2  

 
Result:  After review of the criteria, a motion was made to recommend approval of the sign 
variance.  
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Simmons 

   2- Second: Commissioner Williams 
   Passed without opposition   
 
 

2. Front Yard Building Setback Variance for 220 S. Skinner Avenue 
 

The petitioner, Rosalvo Canejo, is requesting a 10’ front yard building setback variance. 
During an inspection, it was noted that the foundation was only 20’ from the required front 
yard setback. According to Appendix A, Zoning, Article III, Section 6, the minimum front 
yard setback distance in a single-family residential zoning district must be 30’.  
 

Result:  After review of the criteria, a motion was made to recommend approval. 
1- Motion: Commissioner Simmons 

   2- Second: Commissioner Brown 
   Motion passed without opposition. 
 
 

3. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from CP to C-2 
 

David Hornsby, with HD Companies, on behalf of the owner, presented the petition to the 
Board for their review and recommendation. The intent is to operate a private 
school/daycare facility. There were some questions from the Board regarding the permitted 
uses in a heavy commercial zoning district.  
 

Result:  After review of the criteria, a motion was made to recommend approval of the zoning 
map amendment, contingent upon only institutional uses being allowed by right. 
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Brown 

   2- Second: Commissioner Daniel 
   Motion passed without opposition. 

 
 

4. Conditional Use request for a childcare facility located at 112. N. Skinner Ave, 
 

Raekel Perry presented the conditional use request to the Board for their review and 
recommendation. The intent is to operate a childcare facility out of the existing building.  
The hours of operation will be Monday through Friday, 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Childcare 
services is a conditional use within all residential and light commercial zoning districts.  
 

Result:  After review of the criteria, a motion was made to recommend approval of the 
conditional use.  
 
 



3  

1- Motion: Commissioner Henneman 
   2- Second: Commissioner Simmons 
   Motion passed without opposition. 
 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Site Plan/Landscape Plan review for La Parilla Restaurant at 140 Tanger Outlets 
Blvd. 

 
Doug Faircloth, with Coleman Company, presented the site plan to the Board for their review 
and recommendation. The intent is to construct a 6,532 sq. ft. restaurant and the infrastructure 
to support it on outparcel 3A located at 140 Tanger Outlets Boulevard.  

 
Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of the site plan/landscape plan, 
contingent upon $1,950.00 being paid into the tree fund. 
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Daniel 

   2- Second: Commissioner Williams 
Passed without opposition 
 

2. Site Plan/Landscape Plan review for Westside Commerce Center in Westside Business 
Park 

 
CJ Chance, with HGB Engineering, presented the site plan to the Board for their and 
recommendation. The developer is proposing the construction of +/- 140,000 sq. ft. of 
warehouse with associated driveways, parking, utilities, and all the infrastructure to support 
it.  
 

Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of the site plan/landscape plan for 
Westside Commerce Center, contingent upon the City receiving GDOT Encroachment Permit, 
which includes the proposed traffic light and improvements at Westside Blvd. and the traffic 
light and improvements at Westside Blvd. being installed and completed prior to project close-
out and the issuance of a certificate of occupancy.  
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Williams 

   2- Second: Commissioner Daniel 
Passed without opposition 
 

3. Posting of a Sidewalk and Landscape Performance Bond/Final Plat review for Benton 
Grove Towns 

 
Nathan Long, with Thomas and Hutton Engineering, presented the plat to eh Board for their 
review and recommendation. The developer has posted a sidewalk performance bond in the 
amount of $183,885.00 and a landscape performance bond in the amount of $283,704.00 to 
have the plat recorded. The project will consist of 133 townhome units on approximately 
19.49 acres.    
 



4  

Result:  A motion was made to recommend posting of the sidewalk and landscape performance 
bond and approval of final plat.  
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Williams 

   2- Second: Commissioner Daniel 
Passed without opposition 
 
 

4. Site Plan/Landscape Plan review for 421 Morgan Lakes Industrial Blvd.  
 

Chad Zittrouer, with Kern and Company, presented the site plan to the Board for their review 
and recommendation. The intent is to construct a 115,500 sq. ft. warehouse with the 
infrastructure to support it. There were some questions from the Board regarding the correct 
amount due to be paid into the tree fund. Mr. Zittrouer stated that he will confirm the amount 
and submit revised landscape plans prior to City Council.  
 

Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of the site plan/landscape plan for 421 
Morgan Lakes Industrial Blvd, contingent upon the recombination plat being approved prior 
to a certificate of occupancy being issued and the payment into the tree fund not to exceed 
$25,025.00. 
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Williams 

   2- Second: Commissioner Daniel 
Passed without opposition 
 

   Adjournment 
 
There being no further business, Commissioner Saxon asked for a motion to adjourn at  
3:40 p.m. 
 
1- Motion: Commissioner Daniel 
2- Second: Commissioner Brown 
Adjourned without opposition. 

 
The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this 28th day of November 
2022. 
 
__________________________________________________ 

 
Kimberly Dyer, Zoning Administrator/P&Z Commission Secretary 

 













City of Pooler
Single Family Residential Permits

November 2022

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Contractor Owner PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
11/7/2022 221187 Westbrook 119 Greenhill Close, Lot 747 Michael Rogers Construction Niraj Patel 51009P02008
11/2/2022 221297 Westwood Reserve 72 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 60 DR Horton Same 51010G02025
11/2/2022 221298 Westwood Reserve 70 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 61 DR Horton Same 51010G02026
11/21/2022 221328 Westbrook 187 Wood Haven Ln., Lot 423 Tippins Homes, LLC Brandon and Bethany Hofmann 51009G11011 Yes/No
11/18/2022 221346 Forest Lakes 130 Como Dr., Lot 923 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C09024 Yes/No
11/18/2022 221347 Forest Lakes 127 Como Dr., Lot 929 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C10014 Yes/No
11/18/2022 221348 Harmony 126 Melody Dr., Lot 606 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05078
11/18/2022 221349 Harmony 123 Melody Dr., Lot 621 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05093
11/17/2022 221370 Telfair Park 1001 Easthaven Blvd. Mungo Homes Same 51009S02001
11/17/2022 221371 Telfair Park 101 Juliette Low Ln., Lot 418 Mungo Homes Same 51009S01010
11/29/2022 221387 Westbrook Glen 140 Harvest Hill, Lot 831 Pulte Home Company Same 51009R01022
11/29/2022 221388 Westbrook Glen 136 Harvest Hill, Lot 833 Pulte Home Company Same 51009R01020
11/30/2022 221389 Westwood Reserve 74 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 59 DR Horton Same 51010G02024

 

Total 13



City of Pooler
Townhome Permits

November 2022

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Contractor Owner PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
11/21/2022 221372 Westbrook Glen 627 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 858 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R01052 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221373 Westbrook Glen 629 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 859 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R01051 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221374 Westbrook Glen 631 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 860 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R01050 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221375 Westbrook Glen 633 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 861 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R01049 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221376 Westbrook Glen 620 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 900 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R06026 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221377 Westbrook Glen 618 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 901 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R06027 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221379 Westbrook Glen 616 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 902 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R06028 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221380 Westbrook Glen 614 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 903 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R06029 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221381 Westbrook Glen 612 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 904 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R06030 Yes/No
11/21/2022 221382 Westbrook Glen 610 Blue Moon Xing, Lot 905 Logan Homes SC, LLC Same 51009R06031 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221390 Westbrook  141 Holloway Hill, Lot 1088 DR Horton Same 51009R04021 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221391 Westbrook  139 Holloway Hill, Lot 1089 DR Horton Same 51009R04020 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221392 Westbrook  137 Holloway Hill, Lot 1090 DR Horton Same 51009R04019 Yes/No
11/30/2022 211397 Westbrook  135 Holloway Hill, Lot 1091 DR Horton Same 51009R04018 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221398 Westbrook  133 Holloway Hill, Lot 1092 DR Horton Same 51009R04017 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221399 Westbrook  131 Holloway Hill, Lot 1093 DR Horton Same 51009R04016 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221400 Westbrook  150 Holloway Hill, Lot 1096 DR Horton Same 51009R05121 Yes/No
11/30/2022 221401 Westbrook  152 Holloway Hill, Lot 1097 DR Horton Same 51009R05122 Yes/No

Total 18



City of Pooler
Commercial Permits

November 2022

Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Type/Project PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
11/4/2022 221237 101 E. Marketplace Way Bldg. A The Dewitt-Tilton Group LRP Development LLC Retail Shell 51011F01006
11/4/2022 221239 101 E. Marketplace Way Bldg. B The Dewitt-Tilton Group LRP Development LLC Retail Shell 51011F01006
11/4/2022 221285 1 Godley Station Blvd. Unit A-104 Excel Home Inspections and Const Evans Best LLC Budget Blinds Buildout 50017B03010
11/1/2022 221302 251 Morgan Lakes Industrial Blvd. Mahany Construction Co. Morgan Lakes Industrial XIV LLC Office/Warehouse 5101501092
11/15/2022 221320 1000 Pine Barren Rd. Units 101-102 R Peacock Construction Mike Parkhurst Textron/EXGO Buildout 5101101020
11/14/2022 221345 423 W. Hwy 80 Joshua Parker Preston Peacock Judo Studio Buildout 5001501001
11/16/2022 221350 101 E. Marketplace Way B-500/600 The Dewitt-Tilton Group LRP Development LLC Office Buildout 51011F01006
11/18/2022 221247 1215 E. Hwy 80 Unit 100 Grant Homes Inc. Pie Society Pie Society Buildout 5002201033

 

Total 8   



Misc. Permits November 2022
Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Project Type PIN # Flood Zone
11/7/2022 220326 306 N. Godley Station Blvd. Beau Dossey Sentry Property Management Re-roof 5101401005
11/8/2022 220346 1559 Pooler Pkwy Bluffton Sign Company Icon Eelctric Vehicles Wall Signs
11/7/2022 220522 200 Tanger Outlets Blvd Ste. 621 Sign D' Sign Tanger Outlets Wall Sign

11/17/2022 220721 1005 Bourne Ave. Bldg 1 Allsouth Sprinkler Co. Suncap Properties Fire Sprinkler System
11/7/2022 220973 200 Tanger Outlets Blvd Ste. 441 Sign D' Sign Tanger Outlets Wall Sign

11/21/2022 221246 60 Triple B Trl. Allsouth Sprinkler Co. Bergman KPRS LLC Fire Sprinkler System
11/23/2022 221252 1011 Towne Center Blvd 107-108 Signs By James Amber Boys Wall Sign
11/23/2022 221268 2201 Pooler Pkwy Unit 400 Signs By James Milo Leakehe Wall Sign
11/4/2022 221293 616 Ryan Ln. Hannah Valentine Same Storage Building
11/4/2022 221306 990 Pine Barren Rd. Ste. 102 Doug Bean Signs Inc Shiv Shakti Krupa Corporation Wall Sign
11/7/2022 221307 134 Read St. Kirkland's ERS Inc. Sean Carter Electrical
11/7/2022 221308 102 Holly Ave. Kirkland's ERS Inc. Sean Carter Electrical
11/4/2022 221314 213 Merganser Dr. Owens Contracting Connie Yost 6' Vinyl Privacy Fence
11/4/2022 221315 221 Merganser Dr. JDH Decks and Fences Sam Garrett Aluminum Fence
11/4/2022 221316 139 Nandina Way EMPWR Solar Erneso Pineiro-Cruze Electrical
11/4/2022 221317 106 Raindance Rd. Generator Supercenter Timothy Hayes Electrical
11/7/2022 221326 618 Holly Ave. Halleluyah Restoration Michael Usher 6' Wood Privacy Fence
11/8/2022 221327 136 Bramswell Rd. ADT Solar Heather Wern Electrical
11/7/2022 221329 17 Oldwood Dr. Titanium Solar LLC Robert Corless Electrical
11/7/2022 221330 3 Cross Gate Ct. Titanium Solar LLC Manel Castillo Electrical
11/7/2022 221331 1108 S. Rogers St. Titanium Solar LLC Patricia Glover Electrical
11/7/2022 221332 122 Fremont Ln. Titanium Solar LLC Luis Simon Rodriguez Electrical
11/7/2022 221333 108 Canal Cove Titanium Solar LLC Johnny Ferguson Electrical
11/7/2022 221334 268 Harmony Blvd. Titanium Solar LLC Nicholas Straiton Electrical

11/17/2022 221336 100 Como Dr. Coastal Empire Designs LLC Angela Shunk Inground Fiberglass Pool 51010C03053
11/8/2022 221337 1067 E. Hwy 80 Boxdrop Parth Patel Wall Sign
11/9/2022 221338 2005 Pooler Pkwy Signs Unlimited Two Capital Partners LLC 4 Wall Signs
11/9/2022 221339 125 Bourne Ave. Dalton Signs Inc Pooler Hospitality LLC 3 Wall Signs
11/9/2022 221340 310 Saringeti Blvd. Halleluyah Restoration James Spears 6' Wood Shadowbox Fence
11/9/2022 221341 243 Harmony Blvd. Freedom Forever Wesley Hatman Electrical
11/9/2022 221342 139 Nandina Way Ernesto Pineiro-Cruz Same 4' Picket Fence
11/9/2022 221343 2 Adolfi Dr. Sign D' Sign MCP SFR Benton Grove LP Monument Sign

11/10/2022 221344 6 Stoney Hill Rd. Robert Lytle Same Accessory Building 51010C1042
11/15/2022 221352 40 Melody Dr. Express Sunrooms of Savannah Jimmy Nguyen Sunroom 51010F02020
11/15/2022 221353 402 James Rd. Absolute Contracting Inc. Derek Knight Foundatio/Termite Repair 5000411009
11/14/2022 221354 140 Village Lake Dr. Palmetto Solar LLC Jeffrey McCarthy Electrical
11/14/2022 221355 142 Village Lake Dr. Palmetto Solar LLC Michael Anderson Electrical
11/18/2022 221357 4 Guildford Pl. Jason Singleton Sam and Angel Sharpe Screen Porch 51009G04002
11/16/2022 221362 110 Southern Junction Blvd. 106 Doug Bean Signs Inc Rumors Properties LLC Wall Sign
11/17/2022 221363 325 Merganser Dr. GLC Fencing John Smith 6' Vinyl Privacy Fence
11/17/2022 221367 170 Martello Rd. Halleluyah Restoration Roberta Forte 4' Black Aluminum Fence
11/18/2022 221368 205 Somersby Blvd. Kristine Marks Same Enclosing Patio 51023B05047
11/18/2022 221369 126 Pine Meadow Rd. Network Installation Specialists American Tower Corporation Cell Tower Collocate 5098804010B
11/18/2022 221378 1137 W. Hwy 80 GT Electric Chau Mei Tsoi Electrical



Misc. Permits November 2022
Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Project Type PIN # Flood Zone

11/21/2022 221385 68 Melody Dr. Freedom Forever Yasmeen Nixon Electrical
11/28/2022 221386 304 Gallory Way Coastal Service Experts Sharon Baxter Mechanical
11/23/2022 221393 136 Somersby Blvd. Ace Remodeling Services Colton Bennet Addition to back of home 51023B03012
11/22/2022 221394 20 William Blakely Xing Coastal Empire Fire & Security Jack Hall Fire Alarm
11/22/2022 221395 114 Cole St. Freedom Forever Joseph Suttle Electrical
11/22/2022 221396 229 Longleaf Cir. Palmetto Solar LLC John Brantley Electrical
11/23/2022 221405 111 White Dogwood Ln. Jaimie Collins Same 6' Wood Privacy Fence
11/23/2022 221406 162 Nandina Way Palmetto Solar LLC Daniel Fisher Electrical
11/28/2022 221407 111 Coleman Blvd. Sign D' Sign Denholtz Properties Wall Sign and Tenant Signs
11/29/2022 221412 1022 W Hwy 80 Rushing Electric Co. Inc. Popeye's Electrical
11/29/2022 221416 105 Kraft Kove Live Oak Energy Systems James Waldhauer Electrical
11/29/2022 221418 1000 Pine Barren Rd. Unit 110 AAA Sign Co. Inc. Pooler Parkway Pine Barren LLC Wall Sign
11/30/2022 221419 149 Arbor Village Dr. Christine Gilbert Same 4' Wood Picket Fence

Total 57



City of Pooler
Mobile Home Permits

November 2022

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Mobile Home Installer Owner
11/1/2022 221309 Garden Acres MHP 1105 S. Rogers St., Lot 709 Craig Williams Chatham Classic Homes

Total 1



City of Pooler
Certificate of Occupancy

November 2022
Date Permit # Subdivision Address Type of Construction Contractor Owner

11/3/2022 220575 Ellis Park 106 Kraft Kove, Lot 287 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/3/2022 220276 Ellis Park 101 Kraft Kove, Lot 343 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/4/2022 210724 Westbrook 9 Water Oak Ct., Lot 403 Single Family Detached Transcend Custom Homes Mark Lescault
11/4/2022 210516 The Farm at Morgan Lakes 115 Pickett Fence Ln., Lot 14 Single Family Detached Trust Homes - South Coast, LLC Same
11/1/2022 220987 Tanger Outlets 200 Tanger Outlets Blvd. Unit 729 Grunt Style Buildout Prairie Contractors Inc. Tanger Outlets
11/8/2022 220481 Westwood Reserve 303 Merganser Dr., Lot 45 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/8/2022 220457 Westwood Reserve 307 Merganser Dr., Lot 43 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/8/2022 220214 Westwood Reserve 314 Merganser Dr.,Lot 32 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/9/2022 220381 Ellis Park 109 Buttermere Way, Lot 337 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/9/2022 220378 Westwood Reserve 313 Merganser Dr., Lot 40 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same

11/10/2022 220407 Westbrook Glen 165 Harvest Hill, Lot 817 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
11/14/2022 220482 Westwood Reserve 301 Merganser Dr., Lot 46 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/14/2022 220267 Westwood Reserve 310 Merganser Dr., Lot 30 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/14/2022 220403 Westbrook Glen 163 Harvest Hill, Lot 816 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
11/15/2022 220612 Ellis Park 112 Buttermere Way, Lot 329 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/15/2022 220613 Ellis Park 114 Buttermere Way, Lot 330 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/15/2022 210690 The Farm at Morgan Lakes 139 Pickett Fence Ln., Lot 26 Single Family Detached Trust Homes - South Coast, LLC Same
11/16/2022 220382 Ellis Park 111 Buttermere Way, Lot 338 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/17/2022 220386 Ellis Park 103 Kraft Kove, Lot 342 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/17/2022 220450 1000 Pine Barren Rd. Unit 112 Barbershop CS Thomas Construction Commodore's Deaux, LLC
11/21/2022 220408 Forest Lakes 624 Wyndham Way, Lot 460 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
11/21/2022 220409 Forest Lakes 118 Champlain Dr., Lot 544 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
11/22/2022 210273 Westbrook Villas 143 Mallory Pl., Lot 169 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes, LLC Same
11/23/2022 220516 Forest Lakes 111 Como Dr., Lot 937 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
11/22/2022 220278 Ellis Park 102 Coopers Rise, Lot 345 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/28/2022 210692 The Farm at Morgan Lakes 124 Pickett Fence Ln., Lot 39 Single Family Detached Trust Homes - South Coast, LLC Same
11/29/2022 211315 Westbrook 248 Spanton Crescent, Lot 316 Single Family Detached Tippins Homes Dave Pierce
11/29/2022 210274 Westbrook Villas 145 Mallory Pl, Lot 170 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes, LLC Same
11/29/2022 220416 Forest Lakes 126 Como Dr., Lot 921 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
11/30/2022 220454 Ellis Park 100 Buttermere Way, Lot 323 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/30/2022 220702 Ellis Park 104 Buttermere Way, Lot 325 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
11/30/2022 220250 Westbrook 184 Spanton Crescent, Lot 509 Single Family Detached Grant Homes Inc Jim Sizemore

Total 32



Monthly Report
November 2022

INSPECTORS
Scott MacPherson 215 Inspections (Included in Salary)
Frank Garza 431 Inspections (Included in Salary)

Total Inspections: 646 Inspections



 

 

 
CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

2023 Proposed City Budget 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
2023 Proposed Budget 
Table of Contents 

 

PAGE

1

2

3

General Fund Expenditures:
General Government............................................................................................................... 4
Municipal Court....................................................................................................................... 5
Public Safety............................................................................................................................ 6
Public Works............................................................................................................................ 7
Health and Welfare.................................................................................................................. 8
Recreation and Parks............................................................................................................... 9
Housing and Development....................................................................................................... 10
Debt Service............................................................................................................................ 11
Other Financing Sources.......................................................................................................... 12

13

14

15

16

17

18Water and Sewer Fund Proposed Budget Detail............................................................................

2023 Budget Priorities and Issues.................................................................................................

General Fund Proposed Budget Summary.....................................................................................

General Fund Revenue.................................................................................................................

Accommodation Excise Tax Fund Proposed Budget.......................................................................

Local Resources Capital Projects Fund Proposed Budget...............................................................

Water and Sewer Fund Proposed Budget Summary......................................................................

Tree Fund Proposed Budget.........................................................................................................

SPLOST Fund Proposed Budget.....................................................................................................



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
2023 Budget Priorities and Issues 

1 

Priorities 

 Continuing to fund infrastructure projects throughout the City (i.e., roads, drainage, WWTP) 

Issues 

General 

• Inflation 

• Fuel costs 

• Recession concerns 

Personnel and employee benefits 

• Payroll and employee benefits are budgeted at $19,420,200 and represent 48.4% of total annual 
expenditures. 

• Medical insurance benefits increased approximately 18.3% or $431,110 increasing annual group insurance 
expenditures to $2,793,400. Group insurance expenditures represent 51.1% of employee benefit 
expenditures and 7.0% of total annual expenditures. 

Capital asset additions and replacements 

• Approximately $1.27 million invested in capital expenditures. 

Assumptions 

1. Successful negotiation of the local option sales tax (LOST) certificate of distribution. 

2. Annual growth in local option sales tax (LOST) revenue is estimated to be 10.4% compared to the prior year 
budgeted amount resulting in approximately $9.5 million. LOST revenue is currently 13.9% ahead of 2021. 

3. Total increase in the 2022 net property tax digest was 16.6%. Reassessment of existing real property 
accounted for 9.7% of the increase and new growth accounted for 6.9% of the increase. 

4. The City’s current millage rate is 4.263 mills. Property tax revenue is budgeted at $8.4 million.



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
General Fund 2023 Budget Summary 

2 

$ Inc (Dec) % Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget Year Budget

Revenues
Taxes 22,999,799$ 23,049,700$ 24,271,000$ 1,221,300$    
Licenses and permits 1,360,347      922,750         1,172,000      249,250         
Intergovernmental 446,723         520,655         415,000         (105,655)        
Charges for services 2,953,470      3,098,860      3,461,000      362,140         
Fines and forfeitures 878,082         900,000         850,000         (50,000)          
Interest 10,655            10,000            135,000         125,000         
Contributions and donations 1,667,030      15,000            17,000            2,000              
Miscellaneous 92,033            68,390            71,000            2,610              

Total revenues 30,408,139    28,585,355    30,392,000    1,806,645      6.32%

Expenditures
General government 3,260,337      4,001,515      4,049,225      47,710            
Judicial 417,902         419,790         485,099         65,309            
Public safety 12,112,556    13,893,485    14,836,305    942,820         
Public works 5,573,102      5,806,870      6,933,251      1,126,381      
Health and welfare 142,684         159,620         200,275         40,655            
Recreation and parks 1,728,302      1,949,635      1,828,775      (120,860)        
Housing and development 908,181         1,033,860      1,417,425      383,565         
Debt service 349,307         483,880         441,995         (41,885)          

Total expenditures 24,492,371    27,748,655    30,192,350    2,443,695      8.81%
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 5,915,768      836,700         199,650         (637,050)        

Other financing sources (uses)
Interfund transfers in 1,046,206      950,000         1,075,000      125,000         
Damaged property recoveries 18,449            -                       -                       -                       
Sale of surplus equipment 139,098         -                       -                       -                       
General long-term debt issued 54,964            2,762,600      -                       (2,762,600)     
Interfund transfers out (3,297,243)     (6,084,110)     (1,274,650)     4,809,460      

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,038,526)     (2,371,510)     (199,650)        2,171,860      -91.58%

Net change in fund balance 3,877,242$    (1,534,810)$  -$                     1,534,810$    
 

 

NOTES:



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
General Fund Revenues 

3 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Taxes
G   General property taxes 11,303,876$ 11,478,500$ 11,753,000$ 274,500$       
G     General sales and use taxes 8,618,039      8,608,200      9,250,000      641,800         
S     Selective sales and use taxes 1,092,937      985,000         1,137,000      152,000         

 Business taxes 1,964,460      1,966,000      2,115,000      149,000         
  Penatlies and interest 20,487            12,000            16,000            4,000              

Total tax revenue 22,999,799    23,049,700    24,271,000    1,221,300      5.30%

Licenses and permits
 Business l icenses 168,723         176,000         372,000         196,000         

Other business l icense fees 41,302            26,000            30,000            4,000              
   Zoning and land use premits 115,701         60,000            70,000            10,000            

 Regulatory fees 1,034,621      660,750         700,000         39,250            

Total l icenses and permits 1,360,347      922,750         1,172,000      249,250         27.01%

Intergovernmental revenue
Federal government grants (4,443)             115,655         -                       (115,655)        
State government grants 289,272         245,000         250,000         5,000              
Local grants 161,894         160,000         165,000         5,000              

Total intergovernmental revenue 446,723         520,655         415,000         (105,655)        -20.29%

Charges for services
General government 241,478         701,360         926,000         224,640         
Public safety 202,975         65,000            70,000            5,000              
Sanitation 2,219,805      2,040,000      2,185,000      145,000         
Recreation 289,212         292,500         280,000         (12,500)          

Total charges for services 2,953,470      3,098,860      3,461,000      362,140         11.69%

Fines and forfeitures
Court revenues 878,082         900,000         850,000         (50,000)          

Total fines and forfeitures 878,082         900,000         850,000         (50,000)          -5.56%

Investment income
Interest income 10,655            10,000            135,000         125,000         

Total investment income 10,655            10,000            135,000         125,000         1250.00%

Contributions and donations
Contributions and donations 1,667,030      15,000            17,000            2,000              

Total contributions and donations 1,667,030      15,000            17,000            2,000              13.33%

Miscellaeous revenue
Rents and royalties 66,077            67,920            71,000            3,080              
Other miscellaneous revenue 25,956            470                 -                       (470)                

Total miscellaneous revenue 92,033            68,390            71,000            2,610              3.82%
Total general fund revenue 30,408,139$ 28,585,355$ 30,392,000$ 1,806,645$    6.32%

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
General Government 

4 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

1000 - General government
51 - Personnel services and benefits 1,806,542$    2,096,130$    2,146,435$    
52 - Purchased services 1,250,230      1,593,625      1,565,430      
53 - Supplies 203,565         311,760         337,360         

Total general government 3,260,337$    4,001,515$    4,049,225$    47,710$         1.19%

1000 - General government
1110 - City council 116,728$       127,870$       126,780$       
1130 - City clerk 133,465         169,580         208,765         
1320 - City manager 457,657         524,170         614,375         
1510 - Financial administration 844,159         868,510         930,805         
1530 - Legal administration 151,128         200,500         151,700         
1535 - Information technology 266,938         614,485         706,160         
1540 - Human resources 439,083         483,345         400,135         
1555 - Risk management 335,561         365,000         390,000         
1565 - General government buildings 468,401         600,625         458,205         
1595 - General administrative fees 47,217            47,430            62,300            

3,260,337$    4,001,515$    4,049,225$    
 

 

NOTES: 

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Municipal Court 

5 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

2650 - Municipal Court
51 - Personnel services and benefits 191,953$       210,690$       278,215$       
52 - Purchased services 193,559         206,600         205,384         
53 - Supplies 32,390            2,500              1,500              

Total municipal court 417,902$       419,790$       485,099$       65,309$         15.56%
 

 

NOTES: 

Personnel and benefits: 

1. Added a municipal court clerk position



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Public Safety 

6 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

3000 - Public Safety
51 - Personnel services and benefits 9,901,571$    11,522,385$ 12,585,045$ 
52 - Purchased services 838,045         942,490         895,451         
53 - Supplies 1,372,940      1,428,610      1,355,809      

Total public safety 12,112,556$ 13,893,485$ 14,836,305$ 942,820$       6.79%

3000 - Public Safety
3200 - Police Department 6,032,383$    6,965,520$    7,445,141$    
3500 - Fire Department 6,080,173      6,927,965      7,391,164      

12,112,556$ 13,893,485$ 14,836,305$ 
 

 

NOTES: 

Personnel and benefits: 

1. Police department includes funding for six positions that are currently vacant 
2. Fire department includes funding for five positions that are currently vacant 
3. One Firefighter/EMS position was added to the fire department 

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Public Works 

7 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

4000 - Public Works
51 - Personnel services and benefits 1,350,099$    1,963,945$    2,122,005$    
52 - Purchased services 3,032,266      2,764,080      3,579,595      
53 - Supplies 1,190,737      1,078,845      1,231,651      

Total public works 5,573,102$    5,806,870$    6,933,251$    1,126,381$    19.40%

4000 - Public Works
4100 - Public Works Administration -$                     712,500$       760,515$       
4200 - Roads and streets 1,872,784      1,784,250      2,394,145      
4250 - Storm drainage 1,017,891      861,655         895,705         
4251 - Canal maintenance 381,634         297,815         521,816         
4500 - Solid waste and recycling 1,803,539      1,712,730      1,932,550      
4900 - Fleet maintenance 497,254         437,920         428,520         

5,573,102$    5,806,870$    6,933,251$    
 

 

NOTES: 

Purchased services: 

1. Roads and streets include $471,000 for paving and road striping; $248,000 related to water line projects 
2. Canal maintenance includes  $94,000 for canal bank repairs and improvements



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Health and Welfare 

8 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

5520 - Senior Citizens Center
51 - Personnel services and benefits 88,959$         92,380$         118,255$       
52 - Purchased services 32,816            37,890            46,970            
53 - Supplies 20,909            29,350            35,050            

Total senior citizens center 142,684$       159,620$       200,275$       40,655$         25.47%
 

 

NOTES: 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Recreation and Parks 

9 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

6000 - Recreation and Parks
51 - Personnel services and benefits 1,047,287$    1,246,465$    1,109,140$    
52 - Purchased services 260,264         271,330         291,140         
53 - Supplies 420,751         431,840         428,495         

Total recreation and parks 1,728,302$    1,949,635$    1,828,775$    (120,860)$      -6.20%

6000 - Recreation and Parks
6100 - Recreation 1,608,855$    1,216,410$    1,199,665$    
6220 - Parks 119,447         733,225         629,110         

1,728,302$    1,949,635$    1,828,775$    
 

 

NOTES: 

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Housing and Development 

10 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

7000 - Housing and Development
51 - Personnel services and benefits 596,633$       749,455$       802,305$       
52 - Purchased services 299,796         261,745         575,470         
53 - Supplies 11,752            22,660            39,650            

Total housing and development 908,181$       1,033,860$    1,417,425$    383,565$       37.10%

7000 - Housing and Development
7200 - Inspections 300,076$       325,810$       425,700$       
7410 - Planning and Zoning 519,178         570,955         824,405         
7420 - Code Enforcement 88,927            137,095         167,320         

908,181$       1,033,860$    1,417,425$    
 

 

NOTES: 

Purchased services: 

1. Inspections - permitting review software 
2. Planning and Zoning – increase in the number of EOM plan reviews 
3. Planning and Zoning – Main Street master plan development 

 

 

  



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Debt Service Expenditures 

11 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

Account Description 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

8000 - Debt Service
58 - Debt Service 349,307$       483,880$       441,995$       (41,885)$        -8.66%

Balance
Debt Obligation Start Date End Date Interest Rate 12/31/22

Fire station project Feb-12 Dec-26 3.26% 150,275$       

2013 Pierce impel triple combination Mar-14 Mar-23 3.28% 49,414            

2009 Pierce arrow xt 100' platform Mar-15 Mar-23 3.28% 85,102            

Fire breathing apparatus and tanks Apr-17 Apr-27 3.08% 140,469         

(2) 2021 Pierce Enforcer pumpers Mar-22 Mar-22 3.08% 1,163,443      

1,588,703$    
 

 

NOTES: 

  



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Other Financing Sources (Uses) 

12 

Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Other financing sources
Interfund transfers in 1,046,206$    950,000$       1,075,000$    125,000$       
Reimbursements for damaged property 18,449            -                       -                       -                       
Proceeds of capital asset dispositions 139,098         -                       -                       -                       
General long-term debt issued 54,964            2,762,600      -                       (2,762,600)     

Other financing uses
Interfund transfers out (3,297,243)     (6,084,110)     (1,274,650)     4,809,460      

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,038,526)$  (2,371,510)$  (199,650)$      2,171,860$    -91.58%
 

 

NOTES: 

1. Transfer in from Accommodation Excise Tax Fund 
2. Transfer out to the Local Resources  capital projects fund



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Tree Fund 2023 Budget 

13 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Revenues
Private contributions and donations 1,734,750$    -$                     -$                     -$                     
Interest income 415                 -                       2,400              2,400              

Total revenues 1,735,165      -                       2,400              2,400              

Expenditures
Parks 146,503         382,000         484,000         102,000         

Total expenditures 146,503         382,000         484,000         102,000         26.70%
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 1,588,662      (382,000)        (481,600)        (99,600)          

Other financing sources (uses)
Interfund transfers in 437,852         -                       -                       -                       

Total other financing sources (uses) 437,852         -                       -                       -                       

Net change in fund balance 2,026,514$    (382,000)$      (481,600)$      (99,600)$        
 

 

NOTES: 

1. Carried forward projects to enlarge the pond, enhance landscaping and add parking lot at Memorial Park.  In 
addition, expenditures for  maintenance of tree canopy have been added to the 2023 budget.



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Accommodation Excise Tax Fund 2023 Budget 

14 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Revenues
Accommodations excise tax 2,092,412$    1,900,000$    2,150,000$    250,000$       

Total revenues 2,092,412      1,900,000      2,150,000      250,000         13.16%

Expenditures
Tourism 1,046,206      950,000         1,075,000      125,000         

Total expenditures 1,046,206      950,000         1,075,000      125,000         13.16%
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures 1,046,206      950,000         1,075,000      125,000         

Other financing sources (uses)
Interfund transfers out (1,046,206)     (950,000)        (1,075,000)     (125,000)        

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,046,206)     (950,000)        (1,075,000)     (125,000)        

Net change in fund balance -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     
 

 

NOTES: 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
SPLOST Fund 2023 Budget 

15 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Revenue
SPLOST 6,225,171$    6,200,000$    6,200,000$    -$                     
Interest income 1,885              2,000              18,600            16,600            

Total revenue 6,227,056      6,202,000      6,218,600      16,600            0.27%

Expenditures
Public safety -                       1,166,170 123,500         (1,042,670)     
Roads and streets 258,831         774,400         166,100         (608,300)        
Storm drainage 2,394,387      648,770         278,400         (370,370)        
Recreation 32,703            156,960         2,946,100      2,789,140      
Debt service 1,499,527      1,499,530      -                       (1,499,530)     

Total expenditures 4,185,448      4,245,830      3,514,100      (731,730)        -17.23%

Change in fund balance 2,041,608$    1,956,170$    2,704,500$    748,330$       
 

 

NOTES: 

1. Current referendum (SPLOST VII) runs October 1, 2020 through September 30, 2026; estimated proceeds are 
$25,644,300, 

2. The SPLOST fund reports project length budgets, 

3. The following table summarizes outstanding project commitments: 

Project commitments in progress:
Project Project Remaining

Commitment Expenditures Commitment

Jimmy Deloach fire station 1,272,540$    1,149,040$    123,500$       
Quacco Road widening 874,415         708,315         166,100         
Pipemakers canal 2,370,140      2,091,740      278,400         
Tennis complex 3,033,100      87,000            2,946,100      

7,550,195$    4,036,095$    3,514,100$    



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Local Resources Capital Projects Fund 2023 Budget 

16 

$ Inc (Dec) % Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget Year Budget

Inflows
Transfers from other funds 2,859,391$    6,084,110$    1,274,650$    (4,809,460)$  

Total inflows 2,859,391      6,084,110      1,274,650      (4,809,460)     -79.05%

Outflows
General administration 306,206         59,000            474,100         415,100         
Public safety 1,824,748      3,359,125      140,000         (3,219,125)     
Public works 717,048         2,221,080      622,850         (1,598,230)     
Recreation 11,389            444,905         37,700            (407,205)        

Total outflows 2,859,391      6,084,110      1,274,650      (4,809,460)     -79.05%

Change in fund balance -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

NOTES:

General administration:
Audio/video equipment 11,015$         -$                     -$                     
Vehicle 46,305            -                       58,000            
Computer equipment/software 42,182            59,000            14,100            
Other equipment 19,282            -                       12,000            
Buildings and improvements -                       -                       390,000         
Real property 187,422         -                       -                       

306,206         59,000            474,100         

Public safety:
Vehicle(s) 150,748         415,145         -                       
Fire trucks 1,674,000      1,275,700      -                       
Radios - E911 -                       1,486,900      -                       
Other equipment -                       181,380         140,000         

1,824,748      3,359,125      140,000         

Public works:
Street and road projects 255,943         1,822,210      550,000         
Drainage and canal improvements -                       49,000            72,850            
Buildings 116,214         303,870         -                       
Vehicle(s) 150,240         34,000            -                       
Heavy equipment 78,661            -                       -                       
Other equipment 115,990         12,000            -                       

717,048         2,221,080      622,850         

Recreation:
Vehicle -                       66,000            -                       
Other equipment 11,389            378,905         37,700            

11,389            444,905         37,700            
Totals 2,859,391$    6,084,110$    1,274,650$    

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Water and Sewer Fund 2023 Budget Summary 

17 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Operating revenues
Charges for services 10,246,705$ 9,792,498$    10,051,533$ 

Total operating revenues 10,246,705    9,792,498      10,051,533    259,035$       2.65%

Operating expenses
Sewer and WWTP 4,767,693      5,213,914      5,706,315      
Water 3,851,749      4,132,584      4,216,518      

Total operating expenses 8,619,442      9,346,498      9,922,833      576,335         6.17%
Operating income 1,627,263      446,000         128,700         

Non-operating revenue (expense)
Interest income 15,347            15,000            71,300            
Interest expense (687,070)        (461,000)        (200,000)        
Insurance recoveries 624,733         -                       -                       

Total Non-operating revenue (expense) (46,990)          (446,000)        (128,700)        317,300         -71.14%
Income before capital contributions 1,580,273      -                       -                       

Capital contributions
Tap fees 704,750         250,000         350,000         
Capital cost recovery fees 2,443,899      905,900         2,538,810      

Total capital contributions 3,148,649      1,155,900      2,888,810      1,732,910      149.92%

Net change in net position 4,728,922$    1,155,900$    2,888,810$    
 

 

NOTES: 

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
Water and Sewer Fund 2023 Budget Detail 

18 

$ Inc (Dec)
Amended Proposed Over Prior

2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2023 Budget Year Budget

Operating revenues
Charges for services:

Water charges 4,407,013$   4,052,500$   4,250,500$   198,000$      
Sewer charges 5,727,592     5,647,998     5,684,533     36,535           
Miscellaneous charges 112,100         92,000           116,500         24,500           

Total operating revenue 10,246,705   9,792,498     10,051,533   259,035         2.65%

Operating expenses
4300 - Sewer and WWTP

52 - Purchased services 1,470,150     1,531,574     1,977,950     446,376         
53 - Supplies 1,912,067     1,901,660     1,965,150     63,490           
55 - Interfund charges -                      250,680         263,215         12,535           
56 - Depreciation 1,385,476     1,530,000     1,500,000     (30,000)          

Total sewer and WWTP 4,767,693     5,213,914     5,706,315     492,401         9.44%

4400 - Water operations
51 - Personnel services and benefits 951,695         800,820         820,645         19,825           
52 - Purchased services 424,357         681,579         560,020         (121,559)       
53 - Supplies 2,032,038     1,998,505     2,122,638     124,133         
55 - Interfund charges -                      250,680         263,215         12,535           
56 - Depreciation 443,659         401,000         450,000         49,000           

Total water operations 3,851,749     4,132,584     4,216,518     83,934           2.03%
Total operating expenses 8,619,442     9,346,498     9,922,833     576,335         6.17%

Operating income 1,627,263     446,000         128,700         (317,300)       

Non-operating revenue (expense)
Interest income 15,347           15,000           71,300           56,300           
Interest expense (687,070)       (461,000)       (200,000)       261,000         
Insurance recoveries 624,733         -                      -                      -                      

Total Non-operating revenue (expense) (46,990)          (446,000)       (128,700)       317,300         -71.14%
Income before capital contributions 1,580,273     -                      -                      -                      

Capital contributions
Tap fees 704,750         250,000         350,000         100,000         
Capital cost recovery fees 2,443,899     905,900         2,538,810     1,632,910     

Total capital contributions 3,148,649     1,155,900     2,888,810     1,732,910     149.92%

Net change in net position 4,728,922$   1,155,900$   2,888,810$   1,732,910$   
 

 

NOTES: 

1. Completion date for wastewater treatment plant expansion has been revised to December 2023 

2. Completion date for the Savannah Quarters force main project has been revised to August 2023 

3. East Highway 80 12” water main replacement 



1

RESOLUTION R2022-12.B

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING CITY HOLIDAYS

WHEREAS, City Council previously adopted the City of Pooler, Georgia Employee Handbook;

NOW, THEREFORE, be it hereby resolved that the City Council of the City of Pooler, Georgia, 
adopts the following annual City Holidays:

 New Year’s Day 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
Presidents’ Day
Good Friday
Memorial Day
Juneteenth 
Independence Day 
Labor Day  
Veterans Day 
Thanksgiving 
Day After Thanksgiving 
Christmas 
Day After Christmas  
New Year’s Eve 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City of Pooler, Georgia on the ______ day of _______________ , 
2022.

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA

_______________________________
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor

ATTEST:

_______________________________
Kiley Fusco, City Clerk



2

(SEAL)



1

RESOLUTION R2022-12.C

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING CITY EVENTS 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023

WHEREAS, the City of Pooler, Georgia recognizes and acknowledges the importance of public 
events that serve to enrich the civic, charitable, cultural, economic, recognition and image, and 
other values of the community; 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it hereby resolved that the City Council of the City of Pooler, Georgia, 
approves—pending weather, pandemic, or other unforeseen circumstances that may be cause 
for cancelation—the City Events for Fiscal Year 2023:

 Tree Giveaway (Arbor Day Event)
Memorial Day Remembrance Ceremony
Run for Heroes 
Half Marathon
Tree Lighting Ceremony
Santa Community Drive

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City of Pooler, Georgia on the ______ day of _______________ , 
2022.

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA

_______________________________
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor

ATTEST:

_______________________________
Kiley Fusco, City Clerk

(SEAL)



RESOLUTION

OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF POOLER

WHEREAS, the City of Pooler has laid out and determined a road project designated as

the Quacco Road Widening Project, being more particularly described in a map and drawing of

said project in City Hall, 100 US Highway 80, Pooler, Georgia, to which reference is hereby

made and presented in a Public Forum on November 15, 2022. 

WHEREAS, in pursuit and completion of this road project, it is necessary for the City of

Pooler to acquire certain properties located in Chatham County that are now owned by private

properties all as shown on said map; and 

WHEREAS, the acquisition of such properties is for a public purpose; 

WHEREAS, City of Pooler shall attempt to negotiate the acquisition of said properties

and  if  without  success  shall  authorize  said  property(ies)’  acquistion  to  be  completed  by

condemnation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is found by the City of Pooler that the circumstances are such

that  it  is  necessary  that  the  parcels  be  acquired  by  condemnation  under  the  provisions  of

O.C.G.A. § 32-3-1 et seq.; and THEREFORE, pursuant to the power of eminent domain granted

this  governing authority  by Article  IX,  Section  II,  Paragraph V,  Constitution of  Georgia  (as

amended in 1998) the City of Pooler designees and the City of Pooler Attorney are authorized to

proceed forthwith to complete the acquisition of the properties needed for said Project and if

negotiation for the acquisition is  not successful  then  the Attorney for the City of Pooler  is

authorized and directed to file condemnation proceedings, including a declaration of taking, to

acquire said title, estate, or interest in said lands  all in accordance with the provisions of said

Code section.

RESOLVED, this _______ day of ___________________, 2022.

City of Pooler, Georgia
BY:__________________________________
Rebecca Benton, Mayor

 



ATTEST:______________________________
{SEAL} Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council























































































NOTE LEGEND

PROPOSED SIGNAL

ROADWAY CONCEPT LAYOUT

OGLETHORPE SPEEDWAY

G
E

O
R

G
IA
 C

E
N

T
R

A
L
 R

A
IL

R
O

A
D

SCALE IN FEET

2001000 400

COMPANY

FLINT EQUIPMENT

SEE INSET A

INSET A

CENTER

COLLISION 

SMITTY'S 

THOMAS CONCRETE

LINES

FREIGHT

SOUTHEASTERN 

MACHINERY, INC.

HENDRIX

MINI STORAGE

QUICK LOCK

AUCTION

AUTO 

SOUTHEASTERN

PERFECTION

AUTO 

SUNOCO

DURING DESIGN. 

APPROXIMATE AND WILL BE UPDATED 

EASEMENTS SHOWN ON THE LAYOUT ARE 

THE CITY OF POOLER. RIGHT-OF-WAY AND 

COORDINATION WITH THE DESIGN TEAM AND 

SUBJECT TO CHANGE PENDING FURTHER 

PROPOSED LAYOUT IS CONCEPTUAL AND 

PROPOSED SIDEWALK

PROPOSED CONCRETE MEDIAN

PROPOSED PERMANENT PAVING

PROPOSED EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY AND PROPERTY LINES

DECEMBER 2022

350'

RT TURN 

STORAGE

1
2
'

1
6
'

2
5
0
'

R
T
 
T

U
R

N
 

S
T

O
R

A
G
E

1
0
0
'

R
T
 
T

U
R

N
T

A
P
E
R

100'

RT TURN 

TAPER

OLD 
DEAN 

FORES
T R

OAD

SR 307/DEAN FOREST ROAD

S
R
 2

6
/U

S
 8

0
/L

O
U
IS

V
IL

L
E
 R

O
A

D

R
A

Y
M

O
N

D
 R

O
A

D

E
A

S
O

N
 D

R
IV

E

B
A

C
H

E
L

O
R
S
 M

H
P

0

SCALE IN FEET

50 100 200

RT
 T

UR
N 

TA
PE

R
50
'

R
T
 
T
U
R
N
 
S
T
O
R
A
G
E

1
0
0
'

LT 
TUR

N S
TOR

AGE235
'

LT 
TUR

N T
APE

R100
'

1
2
'
1
2
'

16'

12'8'12'16'

1
2
'

1
2
'



SCALE IN FEET

200 4001000

NOTE

LEGEND

PROPOSED SIGNAL

ROADWAY CONCEPT LAYOUT

OGLETHORPE SPEEDWAY

COMPANY

FLINT EQUIPMENT

CENTER

COLLISION 

SMITTY'S 

GEORGIA CENTRAL RAILROAD

INTERSECTION DETAIL

SEE EXHIBIT FOR 

TOM TRIPLETT PARK

LINES

FREIGHT

SOUTHEASTERN 

MACHINERY, INC.

HENDRIX

THOMAS CONCRETE

STORE

CAT RENTAL

YANCEY RENTS

AUTO AUCTION

SOUTHEASTERN

SUNOCO

MINI STORAGE

QUICK LOCK

PERFECTION

AUTO 

DURING DESIGN. 

LAYOUT ARE APPROXIMATE AND WILL BE UPDATED 

THE RIGHT-OF-WAY AND EASEMENTS SHOWN ON THE 

THE DESIGN TEAM AND THE CITY OF POOLER. 

CHANGE PENDING FURTHER COORDINATION WITH 

PROPOSED LAYOUT IS CONCEPTUAL AND SUBJECT TO

PROPOSED SIDEWALK

PROPOSED CONCRETE MEDIAN

PROPOSED PERMANENT PAVING

PROPOSED EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY AND PROPERTY LINES

T
R

U
C

K
 C

O
U

R
T

TRUCK COURT

TRUCK COURT

T
R

U
C

K
 C

O
U

R
T

110 PARKING SPACES

110 PARKING SPACES

7

12

12

12

12

12

7

12

12

12

P
R

O
P

O
S
E

D
 W

A
R
E

H
O

U
S
E
 8

2
1
7
,6

2
0
 S

F

E
M

P
L
O

Y
E
E
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
: 
1
3
4
 S

P
A

C
E
S

TR
U

C
K
 S

TO
R

A
G

E
: 
5
1
 S

P
A

C
E
S

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE 7

251,100 SF

EMPLOYEE PARKING: 152 SPACES

TRUCK STORAGE: 67 SPACES

P
R

O
P

O
S
E

D
 W

A
R
E

H
O

U
S
E
 1

3
7
3
,2

4
0
 S

F

E
M

P
L
O

Y
E
E
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
: 
2
2
8
 S

P
A

C
E
S

TR
U

C
K
 S

TO
R

A
G

E
: 
9
5
 S

P
A

C
E
S

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE 9

190,650 SF

EMPLOYEE PARKING: 116 SPACES

TRUCK STORAGE: 49 SPACES

P
R

O
P

O
S
E

D
 W

A
R
E

H
O

U
S
E
 6

2
6
7
,8

4
0
 S

F

E
M

P
L
O

Y
E
E
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
: 
1
6
6
 S

P
A

C
E
S

TR
U

C
K
 S

TO
R

A
G

E
: 
6
6
 S

P
A

C
E
S

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE 4

236,930 SF

EMPLOYEE PARKING: 116 SPACES

TRUCK STORAGE: 60 SPACES

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE 5

353,400 SF

EMPLOYEE PARKING: 216 SPACES

TRUCK STORAGE: 75 SPACES

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE 2

1,132,120 SF

EMPLOYEE PARKING: 440 SPACES

TRUCK STORAGE: 278 SPACES

P
R

O
P

O
S
E

D
 W

A
R
E

H
O

U
S
E
 3

6
0
2
,4

9
0
 S

F

E
M

P
L
O

Y
E
E
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
: 
2
2
0
 S

P
A

C
E
S

T
R

U
C

K
 S

T
O

R
A

G
E
: 
1
5
8
 S

P
A

C
E
S

DECEMBER 2022

SR 26/US 80/LOUISVILLE ROAD

O
L

D
 D

E
A

N
 F

O
R

E
S

T
 R

O
A

D

BACHELORS M
HP

S
R
 3

0
7
/D

E
A

N
 F

O
R

E
S

T
 R

O
A

D

RAYMOND 
ROAD

MORGAN INDUSTRIAL BLVD

BEASLEY R
OAD

EASON D
RIV

E

D
U

B
L
IN
 R

O
A

D

.24 AC WETLAND IMPACT

4.92 WETLAND

IMPACT

2
2
8
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

2
2
2
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

2
1
8
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

4.65 AC  WETLAND IMPACT

3,800 SFOFFICE

216 PARKING SPACES

5
8
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

5
8
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

.44 AC WETLAND IMPACT

6
0
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

5
6
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

3
,8

0
0
 S

F
O

F
F
IC

E

1
6
6
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

3
,8

0
0
 S

F
O

F
F
IC

E

1
3
4
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E
S

3
,8

0
0
 S

F
O

F
F
IC

E

152 PARKING SPACES

3,800 SFOFFICE

POND 

0.24 AC

POND 

2.08 AC

POND 

0.60 AC

STORM

POND 

0.86 AC

POND 

1.02 AC

POND 

1.57 AC

POND 

0.95 AC

POND 

0.82 AC

POND 

0.75 AC

POND 

0.74 AC

POND 

4.17 AC

POND 

1.78 AC

POND 

.86 AC

POND 

3.47 AC





























































































































































WATER LINE COST SHARING AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS WATER LINE COST SHARING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and 
entered into as of the ____ day of ____________, 2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the CITY 
OF POOLER, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Georgia (the 
“City”), and CLEAR LAKE (GA) OWNER I LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Clear Lake”), 
hereinafter collectively referred to as “Parties” and individually as “Party”. 
 

R E C I T A L S : 
 

WHEREAS, Clear Lake is developing a residential subdivision (the “Subdivision”) on that certain 
lot, tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 8th GM District, City of Pooler, Chatham County, 
Georgia, depicted as “LOT 12” on that certain plat entitled “A MAJOR SUBDIVISION OF CLEAR LAKE 
RESERVE, PHASE 1, BEING TRACTS 1 & 2 FORMERLY KNOWN AS THE RYALS TRACT AND 
PARCEL E-3, BEING A PORTION OF PARCEL “E” OF THE MORGAN TRACT “Q,” prepared for 
Pooler Parkway of GA, LLC, by Thomas & Hutton, dated November 17, 2021, recorded in Plat Book 53, 
Page 278, Chatham County records (“Lot 12”), and as part of this development, Clear Lake will be 
constructing water connection lines (the “Water Connection Lines”) in phases in order to connect the 
Subdivision to the City water lines located at and within Market Place Way, Clear Lake Way and South 
Rogers Street (the “Project”), generally as depicted on the Rogers Street Water Connection Drawing 
prepared by Thomas & Hutton (the “Project Engineers”), dated May 9, 2022, bearing Project No. J-
26640.0008, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Water Line Connection Plans”);  
 

WHEREAS, the Project will be performed in phases (the “Phases” and, each, a “Phase”), including 
“Phase 1,” which comprises the connections to water distribution lines within Market Place Way and Clear 
Lake Way, and “Phase 2,” which comprises the connections to water distribution lines within South Rogers 
Street, substantially as depicted on the Water Line Connection Plans. 

 
WHEREAS, Brandon Barfield Enterprises, Inc., (the “Contractor”) is in the process of 

constructing the Water Connection Lines currently under construction by under Clear Lake’s direction 
substantially in accordance with the Water Line Connection Plans, that certain bid by Contractor dated July 
8, 2022, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Water Line Bid”), plans and specifications prepared by the 
Project Engineers, and City regulations and ordinances; 

 
WHEREAS, following completion of the Water Connection Lines, the Water Connection Lines  

and such related water lines as provide water service to the Subdivision will be dedicated to the City; 
 
WHEREAS, the City has agreed to deposit one-half (1/2) of the projected cost to install and 

connect the Water Connection Lines in escrow for payment and disbursement to Clear Lake in accordance 
with the Water Line Bid and Water Line Connection Plans as described hereinbelow.   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the sum of Ten and No/100 Dollars ($10.00), the mutual 
covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

 
1. City Deposit.  Based on the Water Line Bid, the Parties anticipate that the total cost to 

construct, install and dedicate the Water Connection Lines is Three Hundred Fifty-Six Thousand Nine 
Hundred Sixty-Three and 80/100 Dollars ($356,963.80).  In consideration of Clear Lake’s promises 
hereunder, the City hereby agrees to pay one-half (1/2) of the projected cost to construct, install and dedicate 
the Water Connection Lines as described herein. Accordingly, by no later than the date that is sixty (60) 
days following the Effective Date of this Agreement, the City shall deposit One Hundred Seventy-Eight 



 
- 2 - 

 

Thousand Four Hundred Eighty-One and 90/100 Dollars ($178,481.90) (the “City Deposit”) with Weiner, 
Shearouse, Weitz, Greenberg & Shawe, LLP, as escrow agent (“Escrow Agent”), to be maintained in 
escrow and disbursed to Clear Lake in two (2) installments, as follows:  

 
(a) One-half ($89,240.95) when Phase 1 is accepted by the City; and 
(b) The balance ($89,240.95) when Phase 2 is accepted by the City.  

 
Except as specifically provided above, all design, construction, inspection, and other costs incurred 

to construct and install the Water Connection Lines, and connect to the City water, sewage collection, and 
re-use water distribution systems, shall be borne by Clear Lake, and Clear Lake shall hold the City harmless 
for and indemnify the City against any and all claims for damages or personal injuries caused by or arising 
from the construction of the Water Connection Lines.   
 
 In the event that a dispute arises with regard to the payment of funds deposited with Escrow Agent, 
Escrow Agent shall have the right to deposit such funds with the Clerk of the Superior Court in Chatham 
County and commence an action for interpleader, in which case one-half (1/2) of the costs thereof (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees) may be paid from the City Contribution and one-half (1/2) of the costs thereof 
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees) shall be paid by Clear Lake, subject to reimbursement by the losing 
party.  Upon commencing such action for interpleader and depositing the escrowed funds into the registry 
of the Superior Court, Escrow Agent shall be released of and discharged from any further obligations 
hereunder. 

  
2. Construction of Water Connection Lines.  Clear Lake agrees to promptly commence and 

diligently prosecute the construction and installation of the Water Connection Lines in accordance with 
plans and specifications drawn by the Project Engineers. Clear Lake shall provide for inspection of the 
Water Connection Lines by the Project Engineers during construction and shall ensure compliance with all 
City regulations regarding same.  The City shall have free access to the construction to perform additional 
inspections. Following completion of each Phase, Clear Lake shall provide the City (i) a statement from the 
Project Engineers certifying, based on the best of their information, knowledge, and belief, that the materials 
and workmanship have been performed and installed in accordance with the Approved Plans and otherwise 
in compliance with City specifications and standards, and (ii) copies of “as built” drawings of the Water 
Connection Lines signed by the Project Engineers.  Clear Lake shall provide to the City a recordable plat(s) 
showing all public easements and/or rights-of-way that will contain utilities that, once constructed, are to 
be owned and maintained by the City, and should installation deviate from the original recordable plat, the 
Clear Lake shall provide to the City a revised recordable plat showing all utilities in fact located in public 
easements and rights-of-way.   

 
3. Easements.  Clear Lake shall grant and/or obtain all necessary easements and rights-of-

way to the City for the construction and installation of the Water Connection Lines.  All easements and 
rights-of-way shall be of a size determined by the City to be sufficient to permit the efficient operation, 
repair and maintenance of related water service facilities.  

 
4. Public Dedication.  Upon completion of the Water Connection Lines, certification by the 

Project Engineers, provision of the “as built” drawings, and compliance with any other normal and 
customary prerequisites for acceptance as are imposed by the City, the City shall accept title to and assume 
responsibility for maintenance and operation of those portions of the Water Connection Lines located within 
public easements or right-of-ways.  This dedication shall include all rights, title, and interest that the Clear 
Lake has in the Water Connection Lines and also all easements and/or right-of-way required for the purpose 
of maintenance thereof. 

 



 
- 3 - 

 

5. Warranty. Clear Lake shall require BBEI to warrant that the Water Connection Lines will 
be free of installation and material defects for a period of twelve (12) months following the date that same 
are accepted by the City.  Any failure of Clear Lake provided due to faulty installation or material defect 
during the warranty period shall be repaired or replaced by BBEI or Clear Lake at their sole expense.   

 
6. Term. The term of this agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and end on the 

date that that the Phase 2 warranty period described in Section 5 above has expired.   This agreement shall 
be renewed automatically on the same terms and conditions herein for additional one (1) year periods, 
unless notice is given by either Party of its intent not to renew on or before October 31 of the then-current 
term.  

 
7. Applicable Laws; Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, 

construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.  Clear Lake shall comply with 
all existing and future County ordinances, rules, and regulations relating to the connection to and use of the 
City’s water, sewer, and re-use water systems.  Any action arising from this Agreement shall be filed in the 
Superior Court of Effingham County.  

 
8. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the 

parties.  Any modification or amendment to this Agreement shall be binding only if reduced to writing and 
approved and executed by both parties.  The failure of either party to this Agreement to insist upon the 
performance of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, or the waiver of any breach of any of 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement, shall not be construed as thereafter waiving any such terms and 
conditions, but the same shall continue and remain in full force and effect as if no such forbearance or 
waiver had occurred. 

 
9. Notices.  Any notice provided for or concerning this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be deemed sufficiently given upon receipt by certified or registered mail or hand delivery as follows: 
 

If to the City:  
 
 
If to Clear Lake:  

 
 
10. Excusable Delay.  Neither the City nor Clear Lake shall be liable to the other or any 

successor in interest for any loss, cost, or damage arising out of, or resulting from, non-performance or 
delayed performance of the terms of this Agreement where such non-performance of delayed performance 
is the result of circumstances or occurrences beyond the reasonable control of the responsible party (each, 
a “force majeure”), which, as used herein, shall be deemed to include, non-performance or delayed 
performance resulting from acts of God, strikes, lockouts, blockades, insurrections, riots, explosions, fire, 
floods, or any other cause not within the reasonable control of the responsible party.   

 
11. Assignment.  The Parties agrees that no party shall have the right to assign this Agreement 

without the consent of the other Party.  
 

12. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit 
of the Parties, their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns. 

 
13. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument, 



 
- 4 - 

 

and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or its terms to produce or account for more 
than one of such counterparts. 
 
 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]  



 
- 5 - 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Party has executed this Agreement under seal as of the day and 
year first above written. 
 

Clear Lake: 
 
      CLEAR LAKE (GA) OWNER I LLC 
 
      By:        
 
      Name:        
 
      Title:        
         

 
City: 

 
CITY OF POOLER   

 
      By: ______________________________________ 
       Rebecca Benton, Mayor 
 
      Attest:        
  Secretary 
 
   
      Escrow Agent: 
 

WEINER SHEAROUSE WEITZ GREENBERG &  
SHAWE, LLP 

 
      By:        
       Bill Glass, Esq., Partner 
 
       
  



 
- 6 - 

 

Exhibit A 
 

Water Line Connection Plans 
 

[See attached] 
 

  



 
- 7 - 

 

Exhibit B 
 

Water Line Bid 
 

[See attached] 
 



Staff Report

Subject: Fire Aerial Ladder Sale Agreement

Author: G. Wade Simmons, Fire Chief 

Department: 3500-FIRE

Meeting Date: 12/19/2022

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the sale agreement for a used fire 
75’ aerial ladder truck to Liberty County in the amount of $45,000

Executive Summary/Background: Pooler Fire-Rescue and Liberty County Fire-Rescue have 
developed a working relationship over the last 2 years since several members live and/or 
volunteer there. Pooler Fire recently placed an order for the replacement of our 1999 75’ aerial 
ladder truck that is due in May 2024. LCFR is developing a fledgling organization after 
combining several volunteer departments throughout their county, currently their fleet does not 
include a ladder truck of any kind. As their department has grown, it has become evident after 
several larger fires (including the recent loss of a 300+ year old home and irreplaceable artifacts) 
that they need some form of aerial ladder truck. After finding out about their situation and need 
of an important piece of equipment, staff reviewed our existing fleet and feel we can release the 
75’ aerial a little earlier than normal to assist Liberty County. We approached the City Manager 
with the idea to sell our unit to LCFR as a stop gap measure for their department. With his 
approval, we offered to sell LCFR the aerial we are replacing. The aerial was inspected by LCFR 
staff, due to the slower/rural area that this truck will serve, it was determined that the truck could 
provide several additional years of service to the Liberty County allowing them start training on 
and operating a ladder truck while starting to save for a purchase that may cost $2 million or 
more. After review of similar units for sale nationwide and a prior estimate of trade-in value, we 
determined a price of $45,000 was reasonable for both parties. 

Options/Alternatives for Council to Consider:

Recommended Option: Approve the sale agreement for a used aerial ladder truck with Liberty 
County in the amount of $45,000.

Other Alternative(s): Deny the sale agreement for a used aerial ladder truck with Liberty 
County in the amount of $45,000.

Attachments: Photo of unit proposed & a copy of the Sale/Purchase Agreement. A signed 
agreement will be ready after their meeting on the 15th. It will be added late to the agenda 
package if possible.





Contract of Sale
This contract of Sale (hereafter referred to as "Contract" or "Agreement") is made and 
entered into by and between the Board of Commissioners of Liberty County, Georgia 
(hereafter entitled "Buyer") with offices located at 601 North Laurel Street Springfield, 
GA 31329 and City of Pooler with offices located at 100 US Hwy 80, Pooler, GA 31322 
(hereafter referred to as the Seller). All parties set forth the following agreement and 
enter into this contract as follows:

The "Seller" offers for sale a 1999 Emergency One Cyclone 75’ fire aerial ladder truck 
VIN 4EN3AAA87X1000909, in “AS IS” condition and equipped with 300’ of 1 ¾” fire 
hose with 2 nozzles, 1000’ of 3” supply hose, and several portable ground ladders. 

The "Buyer", agrees to enter into contract to purchase the unit, and the "Seller" agrees to 
the following terms and conditions of sale,

The purchase price of the unit shall be $45,000.00 (Forty-five Thousand dollars and no 
cents) and shall be paid as follows:

The full sum shall be paid upon pick-up of the aerial ladder. The "Buyer" has inspected 
the vehicle prior to sale. The aerial ladder will be available once the seller places their 
newly received aerial ladder in service.

Upon payment in full, the "Seller" shall transfer full and clear title and all rights of 
ownership to the "Buyer".

This contract constitutes the full and complete agreement of sale and is executed by both 
parties as set forth below as signed by their duly authorized agents;

 

This ____ day of December 2022

________________________ _______________________
Authorized Representative Authorized Representative
Liberty County (buyer) City of Pooler (seller)

_______________________ _______________________
Title Title

Date ___________________ Date __________________


	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of December 5, 2022
	6A_City Council Meeting_2022-12-05_Minutes_draft

	B. Special Event Permit Application for OTG Certified
	6B_Special Event Permit Application for OTG Certified Car Club on July 8, 2023

	C. Temporary / Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Per
	6C_Temporary  Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application for Sam Patel on December 31,

	D. Department Reports
	1. Public Works
	6D.1_Public Works

	2. Finance
	6D.2_Finance

	3. Fire
	6D.3_Fire

	4. Police
	6D.4_Police

	5. Recreation
	6D.5_Recreation

	6. Planning & Zoning
	6D.6_P&Z



	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year
	7A_Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget

	B. Resolution R2022-12.B - 2023 City Holidays
	7B_Resolution R2022-12.B_2023 City Holidays

	C. Resolution R2022-12.C - 2023 City Events
	7C_Resolution R2022-12.C_2023 City Events

	D. Resolution R2022-12.D - Authorization to Proceed w
	City of Pooler resolution general


	VIII. OLD BUSINESS
	A. Site Plan for 125 Distribution Drive
	8A_Site Plan for 125 Distribution Drive

	B. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C
	8B_Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2

	C. Zoning Buffer Requirement Variance for 1707 Old De
	8C_Zoning Buffer Requirement Variance for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road


	IX. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Zoning Map Amendment for a 0.74-Acre Lot on the Co
	9A_ Zoning Map Amendment for a 0.74-Acre Lot on the Corner of South Rogers and Tietgen Streets fr

	B. Zoning Map Amendment for SDP Acquisitions (Ogletho
	9B_ Zoning Map Amendment for SDP Acquisitions (Oglethorpe Speedway and Surrounding Properties AKA

	C. Conditional Use Request for Goodwill Industries to
	9C_Conditional Use Request for Goodwill Industries to Operate an Apparel Manufacturing Business 

	D. Height Variance Request for Big Shot Golf Driving 
	9D_ Height Variance Request for Big Shot Golf Driving Range in Mosaic Retail Center at Pooler Par

	E. Front Yard Building Setback Variance for a Propose
	9E_Front Yard Building Setback Variance for a Proposed American Pet Reosrt Located in the Clear 

	F. Site Plan for Arden Senior Living at Pine Barren R
	9F_Site Plan for Arden Senior Living at Pine Barren Road

	G. Site Plan for the Davis Group Development (Pooler 
	9G_Site Plan for the Davis Group Development (Pooler One) at Pine Barren Road

	H. Sales & Use Tax Refund Engagement Agreement with T
	9H_Sales & Use Tax Refund Engagement Agreement with Tax Specialists of Georgia-Southeast, LLC

	I. Water Line Cost Sharing Agreement Between the City
	9I_Water Line Cost Sharing Agreement Between the City of Pooler and Cleark Lake (GA) Owner I, LLC

	J. Fire Aerial Ladder Sale Agreement with Liberty Cou
	9J_Fire Aerial Ladder Sale Agreement with Liberty County


	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XI. ADJOURNMENT

